N.J.S.A. 52:9M-12.2 provides that:

[w]henever a proposed State Commission of Investigation report is critical of a
person’s conduct, a copy of the relevant portions of the proposed report . . . shall
be sent to that person prior to the release of the report. Upon receipt, the person
criticized shall have 15 days to submit a written response of a reasonable length
which the commission shall include in the report together with any relevant
evidence submitted by that person.

The following materials are responses submitted pursuant to that statutory
requirement. The reader should note that they are not under oath and, in some instances,

are the responses of representative counsel on behalf of their clients.
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Kingston Cole & Associates kea@kingstoncole.com
Tele: (413) 455-0800

May 24, 2004

Mr. Brian G. Flanagan, Counsel
Commission of Investigation
State of New Jersey

P. O. Box 045

Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0045

" RE: Response to Allegations in Proposed Report No. 04-05-002
Mr. Flanagan:

I received your certified letter offering me the statutory right to respond to the criticisms
proffered by your office in the EZ Pass procurement investigation on May 12, 2004. The
sections provided to me are so heavily redacted that I am unable to determine context or
application of certain comments to and about me with any degree of accuracy. Since you
only provide selective quotes, I believe you have not honored either the wording or intent
of N.J.S.A 59:9M-12.2. I protest this treatment by you and your office.

Given these handicaps, I will now attempt to offer factual and relevant rebuttal as best I
can to the inferences you appear to be attempting to create in your proposed report. The
clearest statement of your intent and direction that I am able to discern appears on page
15 of 15 in the paragraph which reads:

“The Commission is constrained to question the legitimacy of the overall process
utilizing in the Lockheed protest because neither the hearing officers nor the court
were aware at the time of their deliberations of the unusual circumstances under
which the vendor proposals were evaluated and scored by the MET team; the full
extent of the relationship between (sic) Frank J. Wilson, Kingston Cole, and MFS;
[TEXT OMITTED] and .he existence of Cole’s memorandum in which he
posited a strategy to mislead Lockheed at a critical juncture.”

There are two major accusations here. The first is that there is allegedly some
“relationship” among (not between) the three parties. I unequivocally deny any
relationship of any type with MFS. As I stated in my testimony, and you could determine
with some reasonable due diligence, the only relationship I have ever had with MFS is
professional, ethical and, more often than not, very adversarial. The facts are:



~ A.My Alleged Relationship with MFS:

Kingston Cole & 4ssociates  kca@kingstoncole.com
Tele: (415) 455-0800 FAX: (415) 456-0558

I. The Relationship(s) Allegations

I was BART’s consultant in a competitive bid process that selected MFS to construct a
commercial fiber optic system along that transit agency’s rights-of-way (ROW). I was
BART’s consultant throughout the competitive bid process, which lasted into early 1995.
I was not BART’s consultant during the implementation process, i.e., when MFSN was
installing the fiber optic conduit, soliciting occupants, etc.

I became a BART consultant again in 1997, after winning a competitive bid process. In
1999, I advised my client that MFS (later known as Adesta) was not performing under its
contract with BART and in danger of { bankruptcy. Foilowmg my advice, and after a two-
year process, Adesta’s contract was terminated at BART. I will be glad to provide you
with a name of a person at BART that can verify these statements.

It should also be noted that Mr. Wilson left BART in the spring of 1994 to become
Commissioner at NJDOT, before MFS was even selected for exclusive negotiations
(There were four bids in response to the BART RFP.). It was another six or seven
months until final award was made to MFS. Yes, he approved the initial consulting
contracts for my work at BART. No, he did not take any part, much less an active one,
during any phase of the procurement process.

I was instrumental as a consultant in recommending to the following Kingston Cole &
Associates (KC&A) clients that MFS bids be rejected;

e Los Angeles Metropolitan Transit Authority

o Peninsula Joint Powers Board (Ca. transit agency that runs the CalTrain between
San Jose and San Francisco)

My advice was accepted in both cases. MFS’s bids were dismissed.

I also advised SEPTA (transit agency for Philadelphia) that MFS was bargaining in bad
faith on an existing contract between those two parties. The agency accepted my advice;
I later assisted them in writing an RFP for personnel to manage a fiber optic (and
wireless) development program that put SEPTA back on track.

I further spoke with, and actively lohbied the New York State Throughway Authority for
several years to dismiss MFS for unethical (conflict of interest) handling of NYSTA’s
commercial fiber optic/right-of-way management program. I wanted them to hire me to
work on terminating the MFS/NYSTA contract. NYSTA eventually dismissed the
person the contact person with whom I was dealing—and sued MFS.

As with the BART situation, I will be more than happy to assist you in verifying these
statements. [ certainly described these situations, and my actions, in my testimony last
November. I would characterize my relationship with MFS as properly adversarial from
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1992 (Their initial overtures to BART) to sometime in 1994 when I became convinced
they were not acting in the best interests of my client, BART. After that, I would
characterize our relationship more as sworn enemies, particularly as I was able to advise
" my clients to be exceedingly careful (EZ Pass project) or not to deal with them at all
(LAMTA, Caltrain, SEPTA, etc.). Your attempt to create an inference otherwise is
completely repudiated by these facts.

B. My Relationship with Frank Wilson:

As I stated in my testimony, we are acquaintances, and really only business
acquaintances. I have never been invited to his home. I have never met either his wife or
his children. We have never played golf or other recreational activities together. What
we have done together is develop some excellent programs that have benefited my clients
when he has been their chief operating officer. Specifically:

1. BART: The commercial fiber optic program I developed for BART now generates
more than $3 million in annual revenues. The concept was his, the implementation and
most of the negotiating of the first deals with MFS (and later the carriers) was my work,
in conjunction with other BART personnel. Another revenue process, the wireless site
leasing program. (based on the NJDOT model) generates another $750,000 annually for
BART. They have been a long-time, very pleased client.

2. NJDOT: The commercial wireless program I helped to create netted the State over
$1 million after it was implemented. Governor Whitman later turned the program over to
Treasury, where it floundered. I also was a key negotiator in the protracted discussions
between NJDOT and the Throughway (on one side) and Bell Atlantic to force the
telephone company to return $10 million to the State that had been awarded under a
contract issued by the Throughway just before the Whitman administration assumed
office.

I also served as the marketing consultant to NJDOT, encouraging major corporations,
including Lockheed, MFS, Rockwell, EDS, etc., to give the State serious consideration
for privatization efforts of the State’s various ROW (See Attachment for the one-page
marketing descriptor.). That marketing effort led to a second contract (Again obtained
through competitive bid.) to draft an RFP this was provided to you. Mr. Tom Calu and
possibly Ms. Chris Cox, both of whom I believe you called to testify, can substantiate the
substance of these statements and my work product (You were given a copy of all my
related reports and the RFP by me, on a voluntary basis, last year.).

These efforts were accomplished because of Mr. Wilson’s vision and belief that the State
could follow the BART model and create “high speed lanes along the Information
Highway” (Attachment language) as well as develop a substantial revenue stream at the
same time. During those seminal years, 1992 through 1997, there was not even a handful
of consultants that had the experience and perspicacity to advise a client in these areas. If
I was one of them; Edwards & Kelcy (They had done a similar project in Maryland in
1994.) was another. I cannot think of any others.
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Those are the reasons why, a successful track record and an understanding of a
sophisticated marketplace, Mr. Wilson hired me. What I had done at BART was
sufficiently unique that it was the subject of scholarly papers and analysis at all levels of
the telecommunications, transportation and transit industries. My credentials succeeded
in two competitive bids for consulting services in New Jersey—and countless other
venues (Please note my Web site for more details: www.kingstoncole.com.) To allege as
you appear to do, that we had some sort of non-professional relationship is belied by the
facts. I might also note, as I did in my testimony, that Mr. Wilson and I have tried to do
business several times since his departure from NJDOT. With the exception of a one-day
consulting assignment (I earned, I think $2,000), nothing has ever succeeded. Again,
that’s acceptable because ours is a professional, ethical business relationship.

C. Mr. Wilson Alleged Relationship with MFS:

I have never had an inkling of any type of inappropriate relationship between these two.
I know MFS had sent Mr. Wilson an unsolicited proposal to develop some section of
NJDOT highways before I became a consultant to the State. I met briefly with them
regarding that proposal just after I became an NJDOT consultant. I’m not sure whether
Mr. Wilson met with them. In any case, unsolicited proposals are standard business
practices that are treated with no undue consideration. Meeting with MFS personnel was
certainly a standard business practice as well. Ascribing any untoward motives to these
actions is patently absurd and unreasonable.

As mentioned previously, Mr. Wilson was long gone from BART to New Jersey before
any final award was made to MFS. The final award to MFS was made by the BART
Board of Directors, as assisted by then-General Manager Richard White (now the GM at
Washington, D.C., Metropolitan Transit Authority [WMATA]. Again, I would be glad to
provide you with Mr. White’s contact information so that you can corroborate this fact.

Ascribing some phantom, unethical relationship to Mr. Wilson and MFS as you appear to
be doing simply has no basis in fact. He provided the concept of seeking commercial
development of BART ROW in 1992—and nothing more.
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II. The Allegation in the September 3, 1996 Memorandum that I posited a strategy
to mislead Lockheed at a critical juncture.

The only possible, relevant language in the memorandum you could be citing (And which
you showed me a New Jersey Star Ledger article of May 18, 1997 article as somehow
constituting proof.) is as follows:

“Recommended Strategy: See if Lockheed/Symphony Management has gotten the
message to seriously amend their proposal. If not, we should consistently tell them
that winning of the ETC portion of the RFP does not include any type of fiber optic
system. The Consortium, or its variqus members, reserve the right to seek an
alternative approach to building a State-wide system exclusive of the ETC project.”

A. My role in the Negotiating Process:

First and foremost, the entire memorandum is just non-binding advice from a consultant.
I was not in secret (or any other type of) communication with Frank Wilson because he
had recused himself and made that fact abundantly clear to me and everyone else
involved in the ETC project.

Second, I was not a voting member of the MET team. I had neither a vote, nor any undue
influence on their decision making process. As a consultant, it is/was my responsibility
to provide advice to clients. They are under no obligation, much less pressure, to take it.

Third, I wrote the memorandum for my file to ensure that I had a clear understanding of
the two proposals from the very narrow perspective of the commercial fiber optic system
terms and conditions offered by each. I had no involvement in the drafting of any
language in the ETC RFP that would have triggered the proposals. I had nothing to do
with establishing the value (points or otherwise) of a commercial fiber optic offer from
any proposer.

Fourth, I was, very simply, invited in as a specialist, during the negotiations. The
memorandum dealt with the factual areas of the two parties’ offers (fiber optic systems
only) at the end of the first phase of those negotiations. I was thinking prospectively—
seeking the best way to push Lockheed to make a more lucrative offer to the State. Had
they done so, there was another round of best and final offers (BAFO) to push Lockheed
and MFS to improve their offers.

Fifth, I cannot remember precisely why I gave the memorandum to Mr. Carris. Iimagine
it was because I told him that I had created it, and he subsequently requested a copy to
help him clarify his thinking, i.e., it was a professional courtesy. I suppose he could have
requested it be developed in the first place. But then I would not have indicated that it
was a “Memorandum for File.” Looked at from a reasonable, chronological perspective,
I am unable to remember a simple act almost eight years after the fact. Why Mr. Carris
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either gave it to the New Jersey Star Ledger reporter—or gave it to someone else who
did—I have no idea.

Sixth, as to what I was trying to say in the memorandum' intenided only for my files is™
quite simply this: If Lockheed did not want to improve their offer in this one area, that
was their business. As the rest of the memorandum describes in detail, 1 did not think
this would have been a wise decision. I had spent considerable time visiting with
Lockheed personnel (accompanied by either Ms. Cox or Mr. Calu) during the marketing
period described in the Attachment. If they “Didn’t get it” that was their problem.

B. The Other RFP, or the “Better Strategy”:

The last sentence from my memorandum that is cited in the Star Ledger article is key for
two reasons: 1. I truly believed I had a “better strategy” for the State if the entire bid
process (not just Lockheed’s proposal) failed; and, 2.) You consistently refused to bring
up this strategy during my testimony. In retrospect, I now believe your tactic of
avoidance was deliberate and certainly will resulting in a flawed report to the Legislature,
if not corrected.

The “better strategy” was the RFP for fiber optic development of the State of New Jersey
that I spent several months developing for NJDOT in the early and middle part of 1996. I
provided you with a copy of that RFP as a courtesy last year. You also were
undoubtedly told about it by Mr. Calu, and possibly Ms. Cox, in their testimony.

Quite simply, the drafting of this comprehensive document occupied my entire time
during the first half of 1996. That also means that, as stated several times during my
testimony, I had almost nothing to do with the drafting of the competitive bid document
for the ETC project. Your citation of 6.5 hours may be correct, but it was a pittance. It
was also ceased when Mr. Calu and I determined that a conflict of interest might exist.

I also had nothing whatsoever to do with the selection of the MET team, any other
consultants (including Phoenix) or any other details on that project.

At one point late in the day of my testimony, you showed me an exhibit (amongst a
blizzard) that showed several entries with the statement “Work on RFP.” I remember not
being able (either because of jet lag, or not remembering a date seven years in the past, or
simply your own calculation) to do anything except deny that I had worked on the ETC
RFP.

I am now replacing that mental blank with the clear and unequivocal statement, which
you can easily validate, that the “Work on RFP” exhibit you showed me (as well as
several other similar invoices I submitted) refers only to my work on the “other RFP.”
That is, the separate attempt to ensure fiber optic network development of the State that
was written independently by me and other consultants—and would, I believe, been
issued—if the ETC project had foundered.
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The statement, “ The Consortium, or its various members, reserve the right to seek an
alternative approach to building a State-wide system exclusive of the ETC project.”

therefore alludes to the right of any government agency to reject any and all offers in a
~ competitive bid process. That is standard boilerplate language. ‘

Even in the midst of the ETC negotiations (all 40+ hours of my total involvement), I
believed that the Consortium had an excellent backup plan; an “alternative approach,” the
RFP I had developed several months before. In other words, New Jersey didn’t need either
MFS or Lockheed’s proposals to develop its rights-of-way. Given this state of mind, I was
even more confident in advising my client to bargain harder with the two parties to obtain
the best possible deal for the State—not the sole benefit of MFS.
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II1. A Final Issue

Another issue that needs clarification: How I came to be hired by the ETC Consortium.
You have made it seem to be a sort of lurid mystery. That is, I believe, not the case. Yes, I
had represented the State in marketing efforts to promote fiber optic systems in the State
during the previous year. As such, I made many presentations and met many people.
Telling them about the opportunity was my job. As mentioned previously, I was one of at
most two or three consultants in the United States that could speak knowledgeably about
these types of privatization efforts (See again the Attachment.).

Therefore, receiving a call at the end of the ETC competitive bid process makes eminent
sense. I knew, or had at least met, many of the parties on both sides of the table. I had the
credentials to advise the MET Team in only one, narrowly defined area. And that’s what T
did—and no more.

As to who actually called me, I do not have a specific recollection or any record (I've
looked.). In all probability, the person was either Mr. Carris of Mr. Fran O’Connor. I say
this because they were the two individuals with whom I had the most interplay during the
brief periods that I was back in New Jersey assisting the MET Team.

IV. Final Conclusions

I am frankly astounded that you have chosen to draw so many ill-founded inferences. You
have reams of paper, including analytical reports, memoranda, etc., that were provided
voluntarily by me and others that establish my position as a consultant with excellent
credentials—and a reputation for integrity that I want to protect.

And yet you have focused almost exclusively on one memorandum, and only limited
language in that document. I wrote more than one memorandum during the ETC
negotiations, and the same message is clear and unambiguous throughout: bargain tough
and do not be intimidated by either proposer.

The “fix” was not in. Mr. Wilson and I were not colluding to “fix” the bid for MFS or
disadvantage Lockheed. The appropriate conclusion is that Lockheed consistently acted like
a bunch of blockheads. And I was simply advising my client on how best to push them
harder. :

It should also benoted (but apparently not remembered too well by your Commission) that
we have all been through an exhaustive, formal protest on this very same subject. I actually
testified as Lockheed’s (hostile) witness. This was followed by formal litigation, as well as a
subsequent appeal of the adverse (to them) verdict by Lockheed. The relationships of the
parties and the memorandum in question have been reviewed and mulled over ad nauseum.
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Parenthetically, how a newspaper reporter characterizes it—without knowing about the
other RFP (He had no business knowing about it, either.) is of no import whatsoever to the
question of whether the bid process was fair or otherwise to Lockheed (or MFS, for that
matter).

I will forego, in the interests of brevity only, the remainder of my objections to the
conclusionary language of your proposed report. I am completely mystified as to why
this inquiry merits the time, effort and expense that your Commission appears to be
investing. And, given the extensive past history of administrative and judicial review, I
simply cannot find any good reason for the tortured inferences you seem to have drawn
from events that are almost a decade gone by.

Sincerely yours,

Kingston Cole
Attachment

Sent by US mail and e-mail today
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Attachment

NJDOT’S PRIVATIZATION EFFORTS FOR ITS RIGHTS-OFWAY
AN OVERVIEW ’ )

The State of New Jersey Department of Transportation (NJDOT) is opening its highways, toll

roads and other public rights of way (ROWSs) to competitive bidding for development by the

telecommunications industry. These ROWs are critical high speed “lanes™ along the busiest

“information highway” in the U.S.; the Boston/New York/Washington D.C. Corridor. NJDOT is

also seeking ‘intelligent transportation systems (ITS) proposals and solution for these same
_roadways.

In line with Governor Whitman’s privatization policies, NJDOT Commissioner Frank Wilson has
directed his staff to develop and implement flexible negotiating processes that will facilitate and
expedite private industry proposals for development of these ROWs. NJDOT plans to solicit
proposals, evaluate them, negotiate ‘erms and conditions and execute final public/private
agreements within the next year to eighteen months. NJDOT has engaged the services of a
consulting firm, Kingston Cole & Associates, to assist in this process.

The ROWs available are in five categories: (1) NJDOT’s “public roads:, comprising all of New
Jersey non toll public roads; (2) The New Jersey Turnpike Authority; (3) The New Jersey
Highway Authority (Garden State Parkway); (4) The South Jersey Transportation Authority; and,
(5) New Jersey Transit (bus and train routes, etc.) properties.

Opportunities for participation fall into the following industry categories:

1. Fiber Optic Carriers: NJDOT will consider proposals from system integrators and
potential non-exclusive licensees for access on State ROWs.

2. ITS Providers: NJDOT will consider privatization proposals from systems integrators,
vendors and providers of applications.

3. Cellular and Wireless (PCS) Operators: NJDOT contemplates; granting master lease
agreements to enable comprehensive deployment of network systems for these service
providers.

4. Cable TV Operators: NJDOT vvill consider proposals from companies seeking new ways
to reach their existing and prospective customers.

5. Consortium Arrangements: NJDOT is seeking optimum arrangements with private
industry members. Consortium arrangement, comprising members from two or more of
the above categories, may best achieve these goals.

If your firm is interested, please contact Kingston Cole & Associates at (415) 455-0800 for more
information. You may also contact the firm principal, Kingston Cole, through NJDOT at: (609)
530-5637. Your firm is invited to participate in this ground breaking project at whatever level is
appropriate, including provision of “Beta Tests” for selected equipment and technologies with
applications to NJDOT operations and activities.

10
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- State of New Jersey , ; ST 2 4114

o "Commrssmn ofInvestrgatron , o ‘ S S

Trenton New Jersey 08625 0045 :

© May 25, 2004
Re: Notice of Proposed’Report N
Dissemination No. 04-05-015

bear' ‘Mr.'Fla'nag'anF

:The followmg is provrded pursuant to N.J.S. A. 52:9M-12.2 and your letter of May 10
- 2004 (received in Financial Management & Budget Delaware Department of ’
: Transportatlon on May 17, 2004). : ,

| ‘Flawed RFP/Flawed Methodology

- - The excerpt provided in the attachment to your letter does not provrde adequate context

*to understand what the statement “shifting of the risk” refers to or means. However, the

- Commission’s finding of a “Flawed RFP/Flawed Methodology” would seem to be at -
~odds with the favorable rulings of the New Jersey courts, which exonerated the

~ Consortium frorn all allegations of procedural and other irregularities in this RFP process.
I believe the opinions from these legal proceedmgs are relevant evidence that should be a

- partofthe Comrmssron s report. -

o Vendor Performance Problems Known but Mmlmlzed

: Delaware was not a participant in the Consortium when its REP was prepared However, -

‘we were aware that potential bidders had been the subjects of a qualification review and
determination process. We further confirmed, through outside expetts that we engaged

~ that the bidders who had been qualified in the Consortium’s process (Lockheed and -

- MFS) were quahﬁed to perform the work and servrces specified i in the RFP..

o Inqumes were made to current and prior clients of both brdders as part of the
~ Consortium’s due diligence process: We also had direct knowledge of MFS’s work from

the SJTA. Both bidders’ performance for other toll clients included positive and negative
findings, but the conclusion from all inquiries indicated that both bidders were qualified.

A pre-proposal test-lane requirement was not 1ncluded in the Consortium’s RFP but it
 did réquire pilot or test-lane demonstrations in the scope of work to be provrded

A Questlonable Evaluation S S

Although David M. Mortimer was very focused, results oriented, and challenged the team ;

to accornphsh its task of reachlng a vendor recommendatron hei 1n no way influenced my
decisions, pressured me into making a decision, or prevented me from obtarmng

: mformatron I felt I needed to reach a decision. - »



iy

While I would not characterize it as ‘pnressure, I certainly re'pre‘sented the high priority an'd‘ |
sense of urgency to implement electronic tolling in Delaware expressed by the Governor

and the Secretary of Transportation of Delaware on behalf of our toll customers. -

- The MET members represented the differihg interests of their respective fagent:ie‘s;"andv’it
~ was difficult at times to reach collaborative solutions. The use of a non-voting facilitator

or leader, initially Thomas Margro and later David Mortimer, aided the team during this -
process. In particular, it helped prevent dominance by any single agency, which could - -

have jeopardized the team approach that was required by the agencies’ joint project. T e
‘worked to be cooperative and respectfiil toward team members and Mortimer, butnot -

“compliant”, during this process.

1 did report to Secretary Canby on at least two occasions that I recall, including a :

discussion about the evening that the MET scored the proposals, that Mortimer was

" qonﬁdntational and challenged the group to act. But, I .also stated that I did not believe
that I or the other team members were impeded in assessing the proposals and reachinga -

decision, so that it was not an issue that I felt she needed to_‘address. , :

" The statement “they were instructed by Mortimer to score the vendors final proposals

- within hours of the receipt of those documents by the group” is technically correct, but

incomplete in context. The vendors® proposals were presented, reviewed and re-submitted
several times, in response to issues and requests for clarification raised by the MET. The -

vendors’ “final proposals” included limited and identified modifications to their earlier -

~ submissions. While the “final proposals”wére reviewed in total, that review could be-

focused on the specific modifications and their relations to other parts of the proposal that
remained unchanged from earlier submissions. Thus, the totality of the reviewand
consideration of the vendors’ proposals prior to scoring the proposals was not confined to
atime period “within hours of receipt of those documents.” ‘ o

Finally, as I testified, I do not remember why my second scoring of the final proposals
changed. As the Commission’s report states, the scoring of the proposals was “laborious™

and involved “thick packets of detailed scoring sheets™. My first and second scoring

involved diligent consideration of each item to be scored. Therefore, after nearly eight
years, I do not, nor would it be reasonable to expect I would recall, my specific decision -
on each scored item on my initial or second scoring. ' R

Very truly yours,

‘ ;!./7 | ,/ ) . . .

ST

Howard R. Giddens, Jr.

Cc: Frederick H. Schranck, Deputy Attorney General
Delaware Department of Transportation '
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EDWARD GROSS, Esq.
ATTORNEY AT LAW

June 1, 2004

BY FACAMILE & FIRST CLASS MAIL

Brian Flanagan, Esq., Counsel
Sate Commission of Investigation
P.O. Box 045

Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0045

Re: Notice of Proposed Report
Dissemination No. 04-05-004
Written Response of Edward Gross

Dear Mr. Flanagan:

In accordance with your letter, dated May 10, 2004 and received on May 14, 2004, I am
furnishing herein my response, duly signed, for inclusion in the Commission Report.

Verytruly yours,

" Edward Gros

" Enclosure — Response of Edward Gross

17 CENTERBOARD DRIVE » BAYVILLE, NJ - 08721
PHONE: 732-606-9377 « FAX: 732-606-9379
E-MAIL: GROSSEDWARD@COMCAST.NET
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EZ-PASS

RESPONSE TO THE PROPOSED REPORT

OF THE

STATE COMMISSION OF INVESTIGATION

Edward Gross
June 1, 2004
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EZ-PASS
RESPONSE TO THE PROPOSED REPORT OF THE
STATE COMMISSION OF INVESTIGATION (“SCI”)

INTRODUCTION

THE SCI’S CONCLUSION THAT THE PROCUREMENT PROCESS WAS IN
THE WANDS OF A FEW, WITH LITTLE ACCOUNTABILITY, IS ;
FUNDAMENTALLY FLAWED

The EZ-Pass consortium was formed in the latter part of 1995 at the direction of
Governor Whitman. It initially consisted of the New Jersey Tumpike Authorty
(“NITA"), the New Jersey Highway Authority (“NJHA”), and the South Jersey
Tragsport’ation Authority (“SITA”). Shortly after its formation, the Port Authority of

New York and New Jersey (“PA”), and the State of Delaware joined the consortium.

The consortium formed an Executive Council under the leadership of the New Jersey
Department of Trahsportation (“NJDOT”) to establish policy for the consortium. Each
consortium agency and the State of Delaware was a member of the Executive Council.
The New Jersey Commissioner of Transportation was Chairman of the Council. The
agencies designated Comumissioners and/or Executive Directors or similar ranking
persons as their representatives on the council. The NJTA designated Commissioner

Joseph P. Miele and me to represent it on the Executive Council.

The purpose of the consortium was to provide New Jersey with a cost effective, efficient,
and relatively prompt process for bringing electronic toll collection to the State of New
Jersey, after delays by the State, put it behind the progress made by the toll facilities of

New York State.
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The consortium designated the NJTA the lead agency for the procurement, installation
and operation of toll collection system. However, the NJTA had absolutely no decision
making power over any of the agencies or the State of Delaware. The procurement was

the result of the collective decision making of all the agencies and the State of Delaware.

Each agency ti'zrough their representétives and staff, independently reviewed, contributed
and approved the (1) Request for Qualiﬁcationé/lnfonnation, (2) Request for Proposals,
(3) Reviewed and scored the Proposals, (4) Selected MFS Technology (“MFS™) as the
contractor through separate Board of Commissioner action or in the case of The State of
Delaware by their Commissioner of Transportation and (5) Participated in the

negotiations and approved the contract and financing for the project.

The procurement, contract and financing negotiations occurred during the period, April
1996 to March 1998. Representatives and staff from each agency participated in hundreds
of committee and sub-committee meetings and each agency contributed to the process

and independently approved every component of this complex and challenging project.

During the period of November 1996 to March 1998, on behalf of the NJTA as lead
agency, I chaired meetings with other agency heads but I was not empowered, at any
time, to substitute myself or the NJTA for the indépendent decision making authority of

any other agency.

In fact, in 1997, while the contract and financing negotiations were ongoing, NJDOT
Commissioner John Haley suspended negotiations with MFS and appointed a Task Force
consisting of representatives from the PA, State of Delaware and New Jersey Department

of the Treasury, to assess the contract terms and the financing. After the Task Force

issued a generally favorable réport, Commissioner Haley hired the law firm of Wolff &

2
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Sampson, Esq. to lead the contract and financing negotiations. Commissioner Haley also
designated a senior NJDOT official to attend and participate in the negotiations. Thus,
neither the NJTA nor I led the negotiations that ultimarely resulted in the executed

contract and financing with MFS and Newcourt Capital.

The State Commission of Investigation’s finding that the procurement process was in the

hands of a f;w, with little accountability, is fundamentally flawed.

THE PROCUREMENT PROCESS

THE SCI CONCLUSION THAT PRIOR TO THE FIRST LOCKHEED PROTEST
I MAY HAVE PARTICIPATED IN THE PROCUREMENT PROCESS, ON THE
MERITS, IS WRONG.

The NJTA, as lead agency, designated its then Chief Engineer, Tom Margro, as the

person to coordinate the development of the procurement process.

The first step in the procurement process was the issuance of a Request for
Qualifications/Information that resulted in selecting companies eligible to receive the

proposal. In April of 1996 the qualified companies received the Request for Proposal.

In July 1996, the Executive Council approved the procedures for the evaluation of the
proposals, which procedures included the formation of a proposal review team. The
review team, known as the Multi-Disciplined Evaluation Tcam (*MET Team"”), consisted
of the Chief Engineer or a similar ranking person, from each agency. Tom Margro was

the Chairman of the MET Team.
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I did not participate in the evaluation process and I made no decisions affecting the
evaluation process up to the filing of a protest by Lockheed Martin (“Lockheed”), one of

the proposers. In fact, until a briefing on October 11, 1996, by the electronic toll Program

Manager, Paul Carris, I was not aware of the MET Team final recommendation to be

made to the Executive Council.

Tom Margro and Paul Cérris briefed me, from time to time, as the Acting Executive
‘Director of the NJTA, on the MET Team progress. I did not participate in the drafting of
the RFQ/RFI, the RFP, The addenda to the RFP or the Best and F‘inal Offer Guidelines
(“BAFO”). I did not attend meetings of the “MET Team™ or score the proposals. From
late JTuly 1996 until October 21, 1996, my only contact with the procurement process was

procedural.

On October 21,1996, Lockheed, one of the proposers, filed a protest with the NJTA, as

lead agency. Lockheed contended that the proceedings of the MET Team were unfairly

F-327

bias against them and requested that the procurement process be set aside. Under the

NITA Regulaﬁons, as Acting Bxecutive Director, I was the designated Hearing Officer,
for the Lockheed Protest. The NJTA procedure for handling protests is similar to the

procedure of other State agencies and departments.

On October 28, 1996, in advance of the protest hearing, I prépared a detailed statement of
my involvement in the procurement process. I concluded that I had no substantive
participation in the procurement process and could be impartial. Exhibit A is a copy of
my October 28, 1996 statement that was previously provided tobthe SCI and not

referenced in their proposed report.
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The SCI conclusion that I may have participated in the procurement process on the merits

prior to the first Lockheed Protest is wrong.

THE LOCKHEED PROTESTS

THE SCI CONCLUSION THAT THE LOCKHEED PROTEST HEARINGS MAY
HAVE BEEN IMPROPER IS UNFOUNDED

Lockheed filed two Protests with the NJTA. I was the Hearing Officer m the first Protest

that was held in early November 1996.

Upon the filing of the first protest on October 21, 1996, I stayed the procurement process
pending the completion of the Protest. In order not to unnecessarily delay the
procurement process of a significant multi-State undertaking, I exercised my discretion,
as provided in the New Jersey Administrative Practice Act (NJAPA™), 10 fix a prompt
hearing date and not permit formal discovery. However, 1 directed the consortium to
cooperate with Lockheed in producing witnesses without the need for subpoena.
Furthermore, since I considered the Protest of significant importance, I exercised the
discretionary power undér the NJAPA to hold an evidentiary hearing where both sides

could offer live testimony, cross exam witnesses and present documentary evidence.

As Hearing Officer, it was not my role to designate the witnesses that each side would
produce or to determine the documentary evidence that would be placed in the record

before me.

PARGE.
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The SCT's criticism of the protest proceeding conducted by me is unfounded. If evidence
existed that was not introduced, which if offered, may have produced a different result,

then fault lies with those that prepared the case on Lockheed’s behall.

Ar the conclusion of the first Protest, I rendered a 45-page decision that examined
virtually all the facts placed in the record and denied Lockheed's Protest. Lockheed’s
appeal 1o the New Jersey Superior Court, Appellate Division, was dismissed as

premature, since, as of the first Protest, the consortium had not selected a contractor.

In April 1997, after MFS was selected as the contractor, Lockheed filed its second Protest
with the NJTA. I recused myself as hearing officer, since at the request of the Executive

Council, following the completion of the first Protest, I became actively involved in the

F-327

procurement process and no longer believed I could be impartial. The Hearing Officer |

1

was NJTA Chief of Staff, Diane Scaccetti.

To assist Diane Scaccetri in the protest, I assigned Andrea Ward, Esq. as her counsel. Ms.
Ward was one of the most senjor and qualified attorneys in the NJTA’s legal department.
I could not provide Mrs. Scaccetti with substantive advice or guidance, but on an
administrative basis, I fully supported her work. Mrs. Scaccetti denied Lockheed’s

second Protest.

The first and secondkP'rotests were the subject of appeal to the New Jersey Superior
Court, Appellate Division. In a lengthy written decision, the Court, on the merits,

affirmed the decision of the NJTA.

It is remarkable that the SCI finds it appropriate to criticize the protest proceedings, while

the second highest Court in New Jersey found otherwise.

DarE 1
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EZ-PASS - NEW REVENUE SOURCES — FINANCIAL DUE DILIGENCE

THE SCI CONCLUSION THAT THERE WAS AN ABSENCE OF FINANCIAL
DUE DILIGENCE TO TEST THE NEW_ REVENUE STREAMS IS
INACCURATE

Electronic toll collection provided an opportunity, not available previously under a
manual toll collection system, to.identify toll cheats, and assess an adm'inistraﬁve} fee
against them for the violation, in addition to collecting the unpaid toll. To identify a
violator, caméras are positioned at the toll lane that will take a picture of the m§tor
vehicle license plate of a potential violator and electronically transfer the image to a
Violation Processing Center (“VPC”). If the license plate were readable, the license plate
number would be sent electronically to a motor vehicle agency for identification of the

motor vehicle owner.

Historically, toll roads throughout the world have lost significant revenue caused by toll
cheats. By illustration, prior to the installation of electronic tolls, the NJHA averaged
about 28,000 thousand violations per day and identified a very small fraction of the

violators.

Each agency, using its historical toll data, estimated the percentage of toll violations
occurring after the installation of electronic tolls. Although the percentage was a very
small percent of total volume, and was projected to decline as motorists became aware of
the identification process, it nonetheless represented a large number of potential violators.

By example, in 1995, the collective annual volume of traffic for all agencies exceeded 1
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Billion transactions annually. On average, the consortium estimated that slightly less than
1% of motor vehicles would be toll violators. Under Video Enforcement Law adopted by
the State of New Jersey in 1997, the consortium was permitted to assess a $25.00

administrative fee for each toll violation.

The consortium, along with the contractor, MFS, projected that 50% of violations could

not be identified based npon camera malfunctions, lack of owmer 'identification and

Fe327

owners traveling either without their transponders or not properly mounted. The

consortium and MFS projected that one-half of the identified violators would pay the
administrative fee of $25.00. Over an 8-year operating period this revenue source was

projected to raise about $400 Million.

The second new revenue source was leasing excess capacity from the fiber optic system
installed 1o operate electronic tolls. Over the 8-year operating period, fiber leases were

projected to generate more than $100 Million.

The consortium decided to dedicate these two new revenue sources to pay for the cost to
install and operate the electronic toll system over the first eight years. If the projections

were fully realized than the cost to install and operate the system for the first 8-years

would be paid without using the traditional and conventional means for payment - toll

revenue. To the extent that the new revenue sources fell short, each agency would be

required to pay the shortfall from its toll revenue. The agencies set up 2 procedure to

! When the Violadon Center began its new operation in 1999, ithad a number of deficiencies, not
uncommon a new busingss. The contractor sent violations to motor vehicle owners who had EZ-Pass since
it unable 1o satisfactorily idemtify violarors from non-violators; its camera equipment was not operating at
an acceptable level and its collection process was compromised since a collection agency was not engaged
in a timely manrer. The contractor was assessed nearly $20 Million in liquidated damages for contract
failures. Furthermore, the contractor did not complete the software integration with the municipal court
system on time, thus preventing adequate enforcement. In 2002, the new Statc Administration changed the
entire program. We will muly never know how successful this revenue source could have been.
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establish annual reserves from theirvtoll fevenuc to pay the shortfall at the end of the 8-
year period. The use of the new revenue’ sources to pay the cost of installation and
operation thus reduced the burden on toll revenue but never eliminated the agencies
underlying 1cgél obligation 10 péy for the system from tou revenue 1o the extent the new

sources were inadequate.

The SCI's conclusion that I personally described EZ-Pass as a no cost project 'is
inaccurate. I consistently stated to the media and the general public that the cost of the
EZ-Pass project would first be paid from the two new revenue sources, whose initial
projections were adequate to pay for the installation and operation. However, I regularly
noted that if there were a shortfall, the agencies would pay the shortfall from their toll

revenue.z

The SCI's conclusion that the financial process lacked independent financial due
diligence misses the core point, ’Toll collection revenue, without the new revenue sources,
would have initially been the exclusive source 1o pay for the electronic toll system. Thus
fhe amount of revenue generated from the new revenue sources was less important than
the effort by the consortium to create new revenue sources and reduce the burden on toll
revenue. The SCI’s criticism that there lacked financial due diligence counld arguably only
be correct, if in the absence of projected new revenue sources to pay for the installation
and operation of the system, the States of New Jersey, New York and Delaware would

Lave abandoned the installation of electronic toll collection — an impossible scenario.

2 The initial cost to operate the system was significantly understated due to the unforeseen popularity ol the
system. As a greater percent of motorisis convert to EZ-Pass from manual payment, iransaction costs
increase. Greater usc of EZ-Pass by the motoring public materially improves congestion at toll plazas. In
addirion, the NJTA realized considerable labor savings since EZ-Pass reduced the number of toll collectors.
The NJTA estimated its savings at $10 Million annually.
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The Commission points to the testimony of James Crawford, Executive Director of SITA
and Lewis Thurston, Executive Director of the NJHA as examples of agencies that raised
doubt on the projected revenue from toll violations. It is true that during meetings of the
finance departments of each agency and at meefings of the agency heads, questions were
raised on the amount of the projected toll violation revenue. Since collecting
administ.rativé fees from toll violators was a relatively new eﬁdeavor, it is understandable
that legitimate expressions of uncertainty would be éxpressed_from time to time. The
SCI, however, fails 1o acknowledge that each agency, including the NJHA and the SITA,

independently approved the projected new revenue from toll violators.

Furthermore, the SCI’s criticism that ﬁnancial- due diligence was lacking is also
inaccuraté. The finance departments of ‘each agency were staffed with experienced and
knowledgeable individuals on toll road financial matters. In fact, many .of these
individuals would be considered by others, experts in toll road financial planning. The
finance departments of all the agencies reviewed and adjusted the assumptions used to
project toll violation revenue and frequently discussed this subject at joint meetings of the

departments.

In addition, the contractor, MFS and the losing proposer, Lockheed, both projected
approximately the same- toll violation revenue. Finally, the lending syndicate, headed by
Newcourt Capiral, engaged Coopers & Lybrand to review the two new revenue sources
and their report found the projected new revenues satisfactory. In fact, there was an

abundance of financial due diligence.

10
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EXCLUSION, MANIPULATION AND __INTIMIDATION OF TURNPIKE
PERSONNEL

THE SCI CONCLUSION THAT 1 MANIPULATED AND INTIMIDATED
TURNPIKE PERSONNEL IS FALSE

As Executive Director of the NJTA, I was responsible for the day to day operation of one
of the most important highways in the United States. The NJTA’s labor force exceeded
1500 full time and 600 part-time employees. The NJTA had an operating budget of

approximately $170 Million and a capital program that in 2000 exceeded $1 Billion.

The issues of the day at the NJTA ranged from traffic congestion and labor disputes to
road construction and fatalities. While 1 was Executive Director, the NJTA successfully
completed a $2 Billion bond issue and materially improved its financial condition. As a

resylt, in 2000, the bond rating authorities increased the ratings on NJTA bonds.

As in all large organizations, the NJTA, from time to time, faced personnel issues, such
as, job performance, absenteeism, and personality clashes. I always sought to resolve
these issues in a reasonable and fair manner. However, it is understandable that some

employees disagreed with my decisions.

It is true that I demanded of my employees that they produce to the best of their abilities
‘in order to maintain the Turnpike as one of the best and safest highways in the United

States. It is unjustified to describe my performance as “manipulating” or “intimidating”.

11
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In the 1996 time j:eriod, Cathy ‘Coryai, Finance Director, advised me that the electronic
toll staff was not adequately providing financial information to her department as well as

not providing her department with timely notice of meetings.

I met with the electronic tolls Program Director, Paul Carris and his Deputy, Fran
O,Connor who denied that the Finance Department was not given access to data or

timely notice of meetings.

I asked both the finance department personnel and the electronic toll staff to improve
their communications with each other and 10 make sure the flow of financial data to the
finance department was not impeded. I did not rece‘ive a subsequent complaint from the
finance department. From time to time, I would ask each department if there were any

problems between them and was always told there were none.

As Director of Finance, Cathy Cbryat, signed off on all matters presented to the Board of
Commissioners that impacted on the current annual operating budget or the current
capital budget. The said sign off indicated that there was adequate funds in either budget
td pay for thé service or purchase proposed. I mistakenly asked Cathy Coryat in March
1997 to sign off on the proposed selection of MES as the électronic toll contractor. Since
this item would not affect the current operating or capital budget there was no reason for
her sign off. There was no need to report this incident to the Board of Commissioners

since, but for my error, the issue of sign off would not have arose.

I regularly informed the Commissioners of the NJTA on every important aspect of the
EZ-Pass project. From the Lockheed Protest in November 1996 through the Board
approval of the MFS contract and financing in March 1998 and thereafter during the

 installation and operational period, I briefed the Commissioners on this project at each
12
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monthly commission meeting. The executive session minutes, although not verbatim, will

reflect my monthly briefings of the Commissioners.

Donna Manuelli, Assistant Director of Finance, from March 1997 to March 1998,
actively led the finance department of the othe; agencies in the review and approval of
the projected fevemue and expense for this project. In fact, the revenue and expensevs were
contained in a spreadsheet called the “Base Case Model” that was a signed exhibit to the
MFS contract. Unless all the agencies, including the NJTA approved the “Base Case
Model”, there would not have been a closing of the financing nor would a contract with
MFS been executed. The “Base Case Model” was aiso presented to the NITA

Commissioners on March 10, 1998, when the Board approved the contract and ﬁnancizig.

The personnel of the finance department, ETC staff, the engineering department and the
toll and technology departments of NJTA were challenged with the task of converting
from manual to electronic toll collection and to integrate their work with the other
consortium agencies. It was a major undertaking. For the most part, the p¢r50m31
performed very well. A few may have some misgivings, but in a major endeavor of this
kind, those few disappointed employees do not justify the SCI's finding that I

manipulated and intimidated NJTA personnel.

13
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VENDOR WARNINGS MINIMIZED

THE SCI CONCLUSION THAT VENDOR WARNINGS WERE MINIMIZED IS
A MIS-CHARACTERIZATION OF THE DIALOGUE WITH THE VENDORS

Newcourt Cafnital (“Newcourt”) was engaged by MFS, in 1997, to arrange the financing
for the project in accordance with its best and final offer 1o the consortium. The financing
required that the agencies advance no funds and only make voluntary principal payments

during the first 8 years of operation.

Newcourt led the lending syndicate and negotiated the terms of the financing on behalf of
the syndicate. It was the{r responsibility to secure the most favorable‘ terms for the
syndicate, while it was the consortﬁun’s responsibility to secure the most favorable terms
for the agencies. The communications between Newcourt and me were within this
se‘tting.

It was pure negotiations for Newcourt to indicate that the New Jersey Banks declined to
be part of the lending syndicate. In fact, commercial banks generally make short term
commercial loans. This [inancing was long, term and made them an unlikely candidate

under any circumstance to be part of the lending syndicate.

The most revealing fact in connection with the financing is that Newcourt produced the
syndicate that lent the consortium $300 Million under terms consistent with MFS’s
commitment. Most of the lending syndicate members were insurance companies as

opposed to banks. Insurance companies traditionally make long term commercial loans.

14
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I advised Newcourt that a discussion of tax-exempt financing would be difficult to
achieve and therefore would be evaluated after the financing was in place... A portion of
the financing was legally ineligible since private sector firms were leasing'a portion of
the fiber optic system. In addition, under the contract MFS was to share in any surplus
after éxll project expenses were paid. This arrangement raised further question on the use
of tax-exempt financing. The terms of the financing permitted conversion to tax-exempt

financing if it was determined at a future date that the project was eligible.

Newecourt advised me at a late date in the negotiations that the lending syndicate wanted

to hire an independent consultant to review the projected new revenue sources; that is,

F-327

toll violation revenue and fiber leasing. I was not opposed to the engagement of an

independent consultant but concerned with the time line. I did absolutely nothing to

impede the work of Coopers & Lybrand.

The vendor dialogue was part of the negotiation process. The SCI conclusion that vendor

warnings were minimized is inaccurate.

CONCLUSION

The procurement and financing for this complex proj ect covered a two-year period, from
April 1996 to March 1998. It involved five major toll facilities and hundreds of their
representatives meeting on 2 frequent basis while still performing their other job

responsibilities.

As the Execurive Director of the NITA and the lead agency for the consortium, I gave it

my best. Although some mistakes were no doubt made, I believe my overall performance

15
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was very good. [ performed in good faith with no other objective than improving the

service to the motoring public.

The SCI did not provide me with their full report, however, the sections made available
to me, suggest that the SCI failed to interview key personnel that would have

corroborated much of my testimony.

Jim Poole, Public Finance Director of the New Jersey Treasury Department. He was

intimately familiar with the financing terms. The SCI makes no reference to him.

F-327

Darryl Bookbinder, Assistant Counsel for the P/ANYNJ. He attended most of the |

negotiation sessions on the contract and financing terms. The SCI makes no reference to
him.
Howard Giddens, Finance Coordinator for the State of Delaware. He attended most of the
negotiation sessions on the contract and financing terms. The SCI makes no reference 1o
him.
Wolff & Sampson,Esq., lead negotiator, in 1998, for the MFS contract and the financing.

The SCI makes no reference to the firm.

Bill Wolf, Esq., Counsel to the NJTA for this project. Mr. Wolf was an active participant
in all aspects of this project. The SCI makes no reference to him. If would be unfortunate
if the NJTA raised attorney-client privilege since he has so much factual information to

offer the SCI.

Respectfully Submitted

-

Edward Gross : “June 1, 2004
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STATEMENT OF EDWARD GROSS

REGARDING REGICNAL ELECTRONIC TOLL COLLECTION PROCUREMENT

In the latter part of 1995, the New Jersey Tuinpike
 Authority (hereinafter referred to as "NJTA") joined with the New
Jersey H:ghway authority (hereinafter referred to as the "NJHA")

‘and the South Jersey Transportation Authority (hereinafter
referred to as the "SJTA") to form a copsortium for the purpose
of procuring a Regional Electronic Toll Collection Systﬁm.
Thereaftér, the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey
(hereinafter referred to as "pANYNJ") and the State of pelaware
pepartment of Transportation (hereinafter referred as the
wpelaware DOT") joined the consortium. The Chairman of the
consortium is the New Jersey commissioner of Transportation,
Frank Wilson. |

The éonsortium designated the NJTA as the leadAagency for
the purpose of procurement, installation and operation of the
Regionai Electronic  Toll Collection system. The NJTA designated
its then Chief Engineer,‘Thomas Margro, as the person to.
coordinate the developmentvof staff and the procurement.

The conso:tlum created an crgan;zatlonal structure with the
staff led by Thomas Margro reporting to an Executive Council .
consist;ng of representatives of each of the consortium members.’
The NJTA designated Commissioner Joseph P. Miele and its Actihg

Executive Director Edward Gross to represent it on the Executive
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Council. rhe Chairman of the Executive Council is Commissioner
Frank Wilson.

The Executive Council has met on three occasions. BAmongst
other things, the Council approved the procedures’for evaluation
of the proposals at its meéting in July 1996. The evaluation
procedures jncluded the formation of a proposal review team
consisting of the Chief Engineer, or 2 similarly ranklng person,
from each of the member organizations.

In accordance with the procedure approved by the Executive
Council, I did not pérticipate in the evaluation process énd I
made no decisions affectlng the evaluation process while it wés
in progress. In fact, until a briefing by Program Manager Paul
Carris on October 11, 1996, I was not aware of the final .
recommendation to’be made by the review team to the'Execﬁtive
Council.

At the Executive Council meeting of October 17, 1996, the
Executive Council membérs»received a briefing on the proposals of
Lockheed and MFS and the recommendation of the review team.

As Acting Executive Director, 1 was briefed from time to
time by Thomas Mérgro and Paul Carris on the prog;ess.of the
review committee efforts. I did not participate in the drafting
of the RFQ/RFI, the RFP, the addenda to the RFP and the BAFO
guidelines. 1 did discuss each of the documents in general terms
with either Thomas Margro or paul Carris and made some

recommendations from time to time in connection with these
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documents but gave 1o direction that they be changed.

I have reviewed the protest letter of Lockheed dated October
21; 1996 and each element of protest contained therein. ! I have
had no personal involvement in the allegations set forth in the
protest letter that give rise to the complaint of Lockheed.

As a member of the consortium Executlve Council, I have
partic;pated in the development of a Memorandum of Understanding
petween the consortium members to establish cost sharing|, revenué
sharing and general terms and conditions for consortium actidn.

I have also participated in the structural issues: related to ‘the
consortium. These activities relate to the organization and
operation of the consortium irrespective of which vendor is

selected under the procurement process.

DATED: October 28, 1996
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Mr. Brian Flanagan

Counsel

State of New Jersey
Commission of Investigation
P.O. Box 045

Trenton, NJ 08625-0045

Dear Mr. Flanagan:

I am writing to you to respond to the portions of the proposed report on New
Jersey’s EZ-Pass Procurement that I received via mail on May 18, 2004.

First, let me say that it is extremely difficult to respond to portions of a report
where text has been omitted, as it is difficult to have any sense of context as to
meaning or intent nor any sense of time or sequence of events. However, based on
the “portions” provided to me, I offer the following comments.

Wilson’s Recusal

I have no recollection of the September 20, 1996 BAFO language referred to in the
report. I had resigned from the Turnpike Authority in August and left the Authority
in mid-September. In any event, as I had previously testified to the Commission
investigators, I did not believe that the proposal had to be self-funded. Self-funding
was a goal that we were hoping would be realized, however that could only be
determined during negotiation with the proposers. I had left the Turnpike
Authority (and the State of New Jersey) prior to final negotiations with the
proposers.

Flawed RFP/Flawed Methodology

First, it is impossible to understand the reasoning behind the above title description
without being able to see the “omitted” text. However, to the best of my
recollection we wanted to make sure that the proposers and the evaluation team
would have a common understanding of the evaluation criteria and their order of
importance. As noted in the report, this change was made three weeks before
proposals were due which was considered more than enough time for the proposers.
We were dealing with proven technology that was being used in an operating
environment (NY State Thruway) and the thought was that the emphasis on the
technical solution should not be greater than that of the cost. In retrospect,
considering the successful operation of EZ-Pass in New Jersey, it would appear that
the technology was not an issue.



Mr. Brian Flanagan
Counsel

State of New Jersey
May 25, 2004

Page Two

Exclusion, Manipulation & Intimidation of Turnpike Personnel

Nothing that I have been provided with from the report describes specifically any
negative impact on the Finance & Budget Department’s operations. The only thing
I can deduce from the portion of the report provided me is that there was frustration
on the part of Finance & Budget Department staff regarding participation in
meetings.

The day-to-day management of the EZ-Pass procurement was handled by the ETC
project staff who were located at Turnpike headquarters. If the Finance & Budget
Department had issues, they could easily access the Project Manager — Paul Carris,
or myself.

Both Cathy Coryat and I reported directly to the Turnpike Executive Director — Ed
Gross. We both attended Mr. Gross’ weekly staff meetings. Ms. Coryat and I had
discussed the Finance & Budget Department’s participation in the procurement
process and the relationship of the ETC Project staff to the Authority and to the
Consortium. I was not aware of any significant problems, as there was ample
opportunity for these to be aired with me directly or with Mr. Gross.

In closing, I would like to thank you for the opportunity to reply to the report,
although it is extremely difficult to do so for the reasons I stated earlier. I hope my
response will be of assistance.

Yours truly,

Thomas E. Margro

General Manager



o

May 27, 2004  BVESTIGATIoN

Mr. Brian Flanagan, Counsel
State of New Jersey
Commission of Investigation
PO Box 045

Trenton, NJ 08625-0045

Re: Notice of Proposed Report
Dissemination No. 04-05-012 HAND DELIVERED

Dear Mr. Flanagan:

I am in receipt of the referenced document as transmitted by you on May 10, 2004 and
receipted on May 14, 2004 via Certified Mail. I have had the opportunity to review the 6
pages of text that you have related to my testimony in this investigation. It is my request
that the following response be considered for inclusion in the final report.

Page 1, Paragraph 1The report refers to the actions of the MET Team concerning the
revenue proposed from the Smart Card option. I do not recall offering any testimony on
this specific matter, nor do I currently have any specific recollection now of this matter.

Page 1, Paragraph 2 The report states” when the MET Team accepted MFS’s revised
final offer, and thus gave an official imprimatur to the shifting of the risk entirely to the
Consortium, it was done in an ad hoc manner and not pursuant to any specifications,
process or technical language drawn from the RFP or any other procurement documents”

The MET Team did not have the responsibility to accept the offer; it did have the
responsibility to evaluate the response to the RFP. Any acceptance of any offer was
reserved for the Executive Committee of the Consortium. The procurement process was
founded with the RFP request and subsequent written request for additional information
or clarification from each proposer. Furthermore, at the time of the evaluation, SITA did
not consider the MFS proposal as a shift in the risk. It considered the proposal as a
deferred payment obligation that would (may) be due at the end of the term. Subsequent
annual budgets for SJTA did include funds in anticipation of that potential outcome.

Page 3, Paragraph 1 The report states that “none of the MET members was experienced
in public- or private —sector finance..... I submit that this state is not accurate. As Chief



Engineer of the SJITA I had several years in Conventional Public Sector finance of capital
programs. In addition to this personal experience, the MET Team was provided guidance

in this area by the Phoenix Group, a consultant retained by the NJ Turnpike to assist the
MET Team.

Thank you for the opportunity to offer these statements for the record.

Sincerely,

A
Donald J. er, Jr
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" Brian Flanagan, Counsel
‘State of New Jersey
- Commission of Investigation -
P.O.Box045 =~
 Trenton, NJ 08625-0045 R

B ;Re:@ FrancrsK O’Connor
Notice of Proposed Report
. Dissemination No. 04-05-006
- -Deaer Flanagan
o1 am in recelpt of your personal and conﬁdent1a1 correspondence dates May 10, 2004
- mailed on May 12, 2004, which included a criticism of my actions with regard to your

» investigation concerning New J ersey s EZ-Pass Procurement 1 recerved th13 correspondence on
May 13 2004 o :

Wrth regard to the statements in. the proposed draft I would hke to address two

- B statements The ﬁrst ison Page 3 of 5 wherem it states

“O’Connor who meanwhﬂe had been transferred to the Turnplke S
. central maintenance facility in nghtstown, filed a civil complaint
 alleging harassment. In late 1995, in an action coincidental with
- settlement of that complaint; he was promoted, given the title of
Special Project Control Administrator and assigned to the E-ZPass
~ project as deputy to Paul A. Carris where his duties included -
controlhng the flow of mternal documents related to the procurement

: Th1s statement makes it appear as if I had drscretlon concemmg the flow of documents I
never w1thhe1d any documents from any individual. . : ,



Brian Flenegan, Counsel
May 25, 2004
Page2

' The next statement I Would hke to address is on Page 5of5 wherem 1t states

“Inits rev1ew of this matter, the Commlsswn obtamed
documentary evidence suggesting that, in addition to the

~ negotiated constraints that were placed upon the Coopers

- due diligence study, efforts were undertaken to restrict the

- firm’s access to key personnel.. Coopers employees seeking
data and information for thé evaluation, for example, were
instructed in writing to funnel all communications through the

- Turnpike Authority in the person of Francis K. O’Connor rather
than contacting the appropnate Consortium oﬁiclals du‘ectly '

I dlsagree with the unphcatlons in the conclusmn of the proposed draﬁ As 1

 testified during the hearing, information and communications were sent to me to ensure

the fact that all correspondence and other information were appropriately responded to.

‘In fact, the first time I learned that information had to go through me was when the

~ document was handed to me during my testimony. Apparently, Mr. Gross had dec1ded
that all information was to be “funneled” through me. Ido not recall ever seemg any -

wiitten msfructlons regarding the “ﬁmnehn of commumcanons »

; T want to further clarify that in no way d1d I ever 1ntent10na11y or otherwise restrict
access to anyone during this period. My respon51b111ty was to get the mformatlon
requested for the person requestmg it. ,

- Thank you for this opportumty to respond to your draﬁ

Very truly yours,

e KO Comon

F:anms KO Connor



David Mortimer
17 Cambridge Road o ‘
Lafayette, New Jersey 07848 RECEIVED
2004 JUN -1 PM L:28
June 1, 2004 5

Brian Flanagan, Esquire
General Counsel

State of New Jersey
Commission of Investigation
PO Box 045

Trenton, NJ 08625-0045

Re: Notice of Proposed Report
Dissemination No. 04-05-005 -
Dear Mr. Flanagan,

The attached is a response to the Commission’s letter regarding its Proposed
Report on the New Jersey EZ Pass Procurement.

Kindly mark the extra copy "received" and return it to me.

Very truly yours,

David M. Mortimer

Dast I Vroefie /
FPLs



David Mortimer’s Response to Notice of Proposed Report
of the State Commission of Investigati?;q: CEIVED
May 24’ 2004 %ohee Mef B | e ‘

005 JUN-1 PM L: 28

ﬁe:‘«'g‘-
General Comments:

Having been given only limited excerpts of the proposed report, it is difficult
to adequately respond without fully understanding the context in which the
excerpts were made. Unlike the State Commission of Investigation (SCI)
practices, Mr. Mortimer believes his comments should be incorporated into
the SCI report in full'.

Comment I

Since so much time has elapsed between the time of the investigation and
the time of the procurement of EZ Pass (approximately seven years), the
quality and accuracy of the report is tainted. The process by which an
individual must recount actions and conversations seven years after they
occurred is fundamentally flawed. In many instances, statutes of limitation
prevent actions like this. Further, while the SCI has unlimited taxpayer
funded financial and professional resources, the subjects of the investigation
are not afforded minimal due process guarantees, such as the right to cross
examination, the right to present exculpatory testimony or to confront ones
accusers. As a result, the process is biased. For the SCI to prepare an
accurate reconstruction of conversations, events and documents outside the
traditional and generally accepted rules for evidentiary practices can only
produce a document of dubious value and credibility. Obviously, the SCI
wished to reach a pre-ordained result.

Comment I1

SCI report appears to separate and single out the New Jersey procurement
from the multi-state procurement process which occurred. This approach is
incorrect. EZ Pass was procured by three states and through a consortium of
five agencies. These five agencies had extensive staff involvement, and they
were supplement by professional support in the financial, legal, toll
operations and engineering aspects of the procurement. There were as many
as thirty-five individuals from the agencies and consultants who were
involved on an everyday basis. Furthermore to ensure the integrity, these

"I have written my response in the third person because it is less confusing, and easier for readers to review
and understand.

1



independent agencies throughout the entire process retained their right to opt
out of any actions of the Consortium at any time. The fact that the current
administration continues after seven years to promote EZ Pass, is a
testament to the integrity of the procurement. For the SCI to revisit this
consortium decision, is little more than “Monday morning quarterbacking.”

In addition, it is beyond comprehension to even suggest that any one
individual could unilaterally abrogate the extensive and deliberate multi-step
approval methodologies of the consortium’s MET team and Executive
Council. The Consortium received input from staff, consultants, executive
management and Boards for five independent agencies in the states of New
Jersey, New York and Delaware. At no point did any one person or agency
control the process.

Mr. Mortimer had a limited role within the process. Mr. Mortimer’s role
was strictly that of a non-evaluating process and schedule moderator with no
supervisory management of the individual MET team members or agencies.
As it was, Mr. Mortimer served at the pleasure of the Consortium’s
Executive Council. At no time did Mr. Mortimer ever perform in any
manner that was improper or injurious to the procurement processes. Nor
did Mr. Mortimer directly or indirectly manipulate the processes, individuals
or outcomes of this procurement. ‘

Comment II1

SCI report questions whether Mr. Mortimer had the appropriate background
to act as chair of the MET team. While it is unclear how the SCI is qualified
to determine appropriate business experience, what is clear is that the report
fails to consider Mr. Mortimer’s substantial business experience in reaching
its conclusions. Mr. Mortimer has thirty years of sound business experience.
He had managed significant organizations within two large international
corporations (H&R Block, Inc. and Beneficial Management Corporation,
Inc.) as well as his own business. Further to refrain from considering a long
record of exceptional performance within state government is an inexcusable
oversight. Mr. Mortimer served as Chief of Staff of the Department of
Transportation from July 1994 to July 1997. He then served as Assistant
State Treasurer and later Associate Deputy State Treasurer from July 1997
until May 2000. Finally Mr. Mortimer was chosen to oversee the
Department of Education’s Division of School Facilities, which
implemented an $8.6 Billion school construction program. The failure to set
forth Mr. Mortimer’s qualifications is simply an unjustified baseless attack
on his business and professional career.



Comment IV

The SCI report oversimplifies and downplays the uniqueness of this
procurement. There had never been an inter/intra state procurement by
many agencies for a new technology application. The SCI considers this
procurement on the same footing as acquiring everyday goods and services.
This is an error. The procurement was unique and very intricate due to the
number of parties and complexity of technology issues. As a result, the
consensus-making and decision-making were also unique. This required
that novel solutions be made by management. To overlook this fact is a
disservice to the reviewers of the report, and undermines the credibility of
the SCI report.

Comment V

SCI infers that Mr. Mortimer was intimately involved in the procurement for
a long period of time. This is incorrect. The procurement took nearly two
years, from early 1996 until early 1998. For the first eight months of 1996,
the chair of the MET team was Thomas Margro, Chief Engineer for the New
Jersey Turnpike. In September, 1996, there was a transition period where
Mr. Mortimer worked with Mr. Margro. Mr. Mortimer served as chair from
October through the end of November 1996 when the evaluation period was
completed. Upon completion of the evaluations, New Jersey Turnpike
Executive Director Ed Gross was the principal responsible for negotiation of
the contract terms. Presented below is a more extensive timeline of events
which clearly illustrates the limited involvement of Mr. Mortimer.

RFP Timeline: Margro as Chair (Winter 1996-August 1996)

Early 1996 the New Jersey Turnpike Authority (NJT), New Jersey Highway
Authority (NJHA), South Jersey Transportation Authority (SJITA) and the
Port Authority of New York & New Jersey (PORT) formed a Consortium to
procure electronic toll collection capacity along their respective bridges and
roadways. A structure was established by which each agency designated a
member to the Consortium’s Executive Council, generally Commissioners
and agency Executive Directors or other senior management personnel,
which would provide senior level oversight to the procurement team. The
procurement team or MET team, as it was known, was staffed by various
technical personnel from each agency, supported by the resources of their
agency as called upon by the MET team member. For example a team of
engineering professionals from each agency developed and evaluated the
technical specification of the RFP for the electronic toll collection systems.

3



Similarly, the financial staffers did the same for the relevant financial
documentation. NJT Chief Engineer Thomas Margro served as the MET
team Chairman.

Spring into early fall of 1996 an RFP was prepared and issued. Also, at the
time, responses were received and the evaluation of same had begun by the
MET team. Throughout July, August and early September extensive
technical, engineering and operational reviews were conducted to determine
if the bids were responsive and responsible. Chairman Margro informed the
Executive Council that both respondents’ proposals were deemed responsive
and responsible. Based upon these exhaustive reviews the two respondents
were advised that there would be a series of oral presentations. In
September Chairman Margro announced his forth coming resignation to
accept a new position at BART in San Francisco. Mr Mortimer was advised
by NJDOT Commissioner Frank Wilson and NJT Executive Director
Edward Gross that he was to assume Mr. Margo’s responsibilities as
chairman for the MET team activities in addition to his NJDOT duties.
During this time frame the Department of Transportation for Delaware (Del
DOT) joined the Consortium.

Transition: Margro to Mortimer (September 1996)

Throughout the rest of September Mr. Margro and Mr. Mortimer served
together as Mr. Margro transitioned out of the role. Oral presentations were
conducted and additional information was provided by the respondents to
clarify certain matters resulting from the staff’s technical, engineering,
operational, financial and legal reviews of the documents and oral
presentations. Up to this point, the working groups proceeded on two paths
simultaneously. The entire MET team would meet to review the proposals,
and subject area subcommittees would continuously review, evaluate and
comment upon a multitude of complex technical, financial, operational, and
legal issues of each respondents' proposal. Also, members of the Executive
Council and agencies senior staff were provided with oral progress reports
by Mr. Margro and Mr. Mortimer, as” well as, from their respective MET
team members.

Mortimer as Chair (October 1996 & November 1996)

During this time, the respondents submitted their Best and Final Offers
which when reviewed resulted in further requests for clarifications. This
resulted in the submission of Best and Really Final Offers. These were
scored. Upon completion of the scoring by the MET team, the entire MET
team with Mr. Mortimer presented the scoring results and recommendations

4



for award to the Consortium’s Executive Council. The Executive Council
asked many questions that were responded to by the MET team. The
Consortium’s Executive Council voted to accept the recommendation and
have the recommendation for award presented by Del DOT Commissioner
Ann Canby, for the Delaware approvals, by Ms. Karen Anton, the Port
Authority’s Chief Technology Officer, to the Port Authority's
Commissioners, and by Mr. Mortimer to each of the three New Jersey toll
authorities.

Gross assumes leadership role (December 1996-Complete
Implementation)

At this time the New Jersey Turnpike became the central agency in the
procurement. Mr Mortimer’s role was phased out to that of presenting the
approved materials to the three New Jersey authorities. Since the Turnpike
was to sign a master agreement on behalf of the five agencies, the Turnpike
was selected to be the chief negotiator. New Jersey Turnpike Authority
Executive Director Edward Gross finalized the contract with the concurrence
of all five consortium members.

To the extent, Mr. Mortimer is discussed within the report; it should clearly
indicate his relatively brief involvement in the procurement. Further any of
the deadlines imposed were agreed upon by the parties during the Margro
phase of the procurement, it was Mr. Mortimer's duty to make certain the
process move forward on a timely basis.

Comment VI

There are comments in the report that infer Mr. Mortimer intimidated the
evaluators into a hasty completion of the evaluations. This is untrue, the
evaluators had been meeting for months during which extensive reviews and
comments were completed for each of the several categories that were to be
scored. On the evening of the final vote, the issue came up as to whether
the MET team should break for the evening or reconvene early the next
morning prior to a scheduled Executive Committee meeting. Seeing no
consensus among the evaluators as to their preference, Mr. Mortimer urged
them to stay on schedule and complete their assignment that evening. To the
best of Mr. Mortimer's recollection, only one evaluator, Mr. Carris, objected.
These facts do not constitute "intimidation".



Comment VII

There is a statement in the report that Mr. Mortimer removed certain scoring
sheets from the room in which the evaluators were deliberating. This is
untrue as written and must be placed in context. By rules adopted by the
consortium, the evaluators’ deliberations and evaluations were declared
confidential. Since the scoring sheets were very elaborate (multi-page
documents), there was a requirement to tabulate the scores of the evaluators,
to ascertain who the successful bidder was. Scoring sheets were taken from
the room for the limited purpose of totaling the scores. No wrongdoing can
be inferred from this action. It was simply an administrative action. Each
evaluator signed their respective scoring sheets at he conclusion of the
evaluation. At no time did any evaluator question the authenticity of their
own documents or the evaluation process. And, at the meeting of the
Executive Council the next morning, the evaluators participated in the
presentation of the evaluation to the Executive Council members. There
were numerous questions asked by the Executive Council members. The
evaluators answered each question openly, freely and comprehensively. No
one requested additional time to evaluate any aspect of the evaluations.

Final Comment

In the view of many, EZ Pass has significantly improved the quality of life
for many New Jersey motorists, daily commuters, truckers and those
vacationing at the shore. The reductions in toll barrier congestion not only
saves time and money, but also reduces pollution thereby, improving the
quality of the air we breathe, as well as, providing the public with a seamless
electronic toll collection system from Massachusetts to Virginia. The
implementation of EZ Pass has been lauded for its vision. While there are
issues that arise from all complex endeavors this report and its criticism are
nothing more than Monday morning quarterbacking of a winning game.
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Juge 3, 2004

VIA FACSIMILE AND REGULAR MATL

Brizn Flanagan, Counsel

State of New Jersey

Commission of Investigation

P.0. Box 045 o
Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0045

Re: Proposcd Report No. 04-05-007/Amy Rogen

Dear Mr. Flanagan:

As we discussed last week, my client, Amy Rosen, has appropriately farwarded me your
Jotter dated May 10, 2004, eod the brief portion of the above-referenced Proposed Report which
mentions an alleged conversation between Ms. Rosen and Frank Wilson. As Ms. Rosen stated,
under oath, when you spoke to ber telephonically, she bas no recollection of the alleged
conversation about which Mr. Wilson apparently testified, although she spoke to Mr. Wilson
frequently during this pezind. However, for a mmmber of reasons, she finds Mr. Wilson’s account
of that conversation suspect, if not incredible. This is so for several reasons.

Fixst, according to the Proposed Report, Mr. Wilson relates that “She [apparently Ms.
Rosen] simply said we are meeting today and is the schedule — some material change in e
schedule, is my recollection.” However, the truth is tat on October 8, 1996 -- and, indeed, from
October 6 through October 10, 1996 ~ botb Ms. Rosen and Mr. Wilson were attending the
national meeting of the American Public Transit Association (“APTA”) in California. Under
those circurnstances, it scems highly uglikely, if not inconceivable, that Mr. Wilson inquired as
to whether there would be New Jersey Transit Board meeting that day or the next, since several
(probably a majarity) of the Board members were in California for the meeting.

Second, in response to the question “And you already seid that she had a copy of this
August 20 [recusal] letter?”, the Proposed Report states that Mr. Wilson stated, “I think so.” In
fact, however, as Mr. Wilson well knows, Ms. Rosen was absolutely aware that he bad recused
himself from all maters relating o the EZ Pass Procurament; it is for that reason that she is s0

certsin that she never entered into &y discussion with Mr. Wilson in order to influence this
procurement. Mr. Wilson’s answer (“I think s0.”), while seerningly insignificant, demonstrates
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that he was either confused, or not being forthright, in his testimony. Under those circurnstances,
it i3 inappropriate to include such testimony in a Report, particularly where the effect of it could
well be to cast aspersions 0D as accomplished, dedicated and ethical 2 public servant as Ms.
Rosen has proven berself 1o be over het many years of service as, for example, a member of the
Baard of New Jersey Transit (of which she was Vice Chair for 5 years), as a member of the
Board of Amtrak; end as Deputy Commissioner of New Jersey Department of Trangportation.

Third, and most significantly, the entire import of the excerpt which you provided lies iz
the implication that Ms. Rosen herself was somehow ina conflict sttuation. That, for example, is
the unfair and unwarranted inference that arises from the exchange beginning “Q. Amy Rosen is

the vice-chalrman, New Jersey Transit board of directors? A, That's correct. Q. She's also an
executive from Lockheed? A. Correct. I thought it was strange.” In fact, however, as the
Comrmission i3, ] am sure, aware, New Jersey Transit, of which Ms. Rosen was Vice Chair of the

”

Board (and Mr, Wilson was Cliair) bad no respons

bility for the EZ Pass procurement; instead,

the New Jersey Department of Transportation -- of which M. Wilson was Commissioner and in
which Ms. Rosen held no position — handled that procurement. Nonetheless, Ms. Rosen at no
timo represeated Lockhsed Martin at any meeting with the New Jerscy Department of
Thus, the
implication that she engaged in any conduict whatsoever that in even the remotest way ‘bordered
on a conflict of imterest is completely unfounded and utterly unfair. Beczuse that is the
implication that, unfortunately, arises from the excerpt provided, Ms. Rosen, who by ber

Transportation. or aay of its officials with respect ta the EZ Pass procurement.

signature below provides this response in her name, respeotfully objects to it and asks that it be
excluded from the Report, in ordex both that the Report be accurate and so that it treats her fairly,

and does not defame her. ;
Thank you for your kind consideration of this letter.

LSL/leo
The above is, pursumnt to N.J.S.A. 52:9M-122, -

my is by nyy\signaturc below, here
su inry e.

Amy Rosenl

TR MA e A A I

LQTIRACARAR
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Brian G. Flanagan, Counsel

State Commission of Investigation
28 West State Street

P.O. Box 045 '

Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0045

RE: Supplementary Statement Pursuant to N.J.S.A. '52:9M-12.2
* Dear Mr. Flanagan: - |

~ Thank ybu for forwarding the materials regarding your Notice of Proposed Report of the
SCI Inquiry into the New Jersey E-ZPass Procurement. Please accept this letter as response to
your invitation to provide a statement pursuant to the above statute.

As you are aware from my testimony, and I am sure from your investigation as a whole,
my role in the procurement of the E-ZPass system was very minimal and, in fact, I was ‘
affirmatively excluded from the process at practically every significant stage. At all stages of
your inquiry, I further volunteered to cooperate with the SCI and provided voluntary statements

-when asked, including providing sworn testimony even without subpoena. ‘ ’

S I have reviewed the three (3) pages of the draft SCI report where certain events in which I
participated are mentioned. - They are included under the title of “Exclusion, Manipulation and
Intimidation of Turnpike Personnel”. Before getting to my substantive comments, I wish to state

~ that at no time whatsoever did I ever directly or indirectly manipulate, intimidate or even
attempt such conduct regarding Kathy Coryat or any other member of the Turnpike staff.

In specific regard to the pages provided by the SCI and where I am mentioned, I wish to

make the following clarifications and contextual comments in order that my conduct is properly
characterized and reported. B ’

~ Website address http:/iwww state.nj.us/turnpike



'NEW JERSEY TURNPIKE AUTHORITY

1.. Ms. Coryat was not summoned to a meeting with Mr. Carris and me. Solely upon
Mr. Gross' instruction, I called Ms. Coryat, and she told me over the telephone that she did not
think that she had to sign the document recommending the award of the E-ZPass contract to MFS
because no funds were being expended. When I reported her position to Ed Gross, he told me to
‘nonetheless accompany Mr. Carris to Ms. Coryat's office because he still wanted her signature
on the document. It was not presented to me as an option or choice, I was told to. go and I went.
There was absolutely no coercion or intimidation used by Mr. Carris or me during the discussion.
The description of "very pressure-filled" is somewhat dramatic. Mr. Carris showed Ms. Coryat
and Ms. Manuelli some documents regarding the financing for the project. Ms. Coryat and Ms.
Manuelli discussed them with Mr. Carris and the discussion ended. I had no knowledge of the
content of the documents. I did not participate in the substance of the discussion, nor.did I
participate in the review of the proposals, either techmcal or financial. Slgmﬁcantly, neither Mr.
Carris nor I asked her to sign anything. -

2. Ms. Manuelh testlﬁed that I came with Paul Carris, which is correct. She further
states, however, that Mr. Carris and I "... wanted to sit there all day if we had to, and get us
comfortable so that Cathy would sign the agenda item." That is an exaggeration of the events.
Firstly, this statement is simply wrong as I had an agenda book to put out for the pending Board
meeting and I didn't have time to sit with them all day. To the best of my recollection, Mr.

Carris and I made a visit to Ms. Coryat's conference room, and when Ms. Coryat, Ms. Manuelli
and Mr. Carris finished discussing the documents he brought with him, we left. ‘At Mr. Gross’
request, I later reported my observations of this meeting and speciﬁCally advised that Ms. Coryat
was not inclined to sign any document for Mr. Gross. That was the sum -and sub stance and
indeed the end of my discussions regardmg the signing of the document

3. Onthetopofpage3,a meetmg between Cathy Coryat, Mr. Gross and me is

. mentioned. The transition from the prev1ous page does not clearly reflect that this meeting is
subsequent to the meeting discussed in Nos. 1 and 2 above. In fact, this meeting (which I
mentioned above) was simply called by Mr. Gross upon his return to the Authority
Administration Building whereupon he requested to be briefed on what had occurred and to
discuss with Ms. Coryat her decision not to sign the document. ' At no time whatsoever did
anyone, including Mr. Gross, mention retahatlon or other efforts to coerce Ms Coryat into
approving the MFS Agenda Item.

In sum and substance I must reiterate that I was not involved in the E-ZPass procurement
process. While my position did mandate, on a few rare occasions, that I attend a few meetings,
or that I prepare agendas for Authority consideration (and from which I learned some
information), I simply had no substantive role in E-ZPass whatsoever. While the record must
establish that Mr. Gross headed and propelled the E-ZPass program through the administration
system, I did not witness at any time his alleged coercion or intimidation of Ms Coryat or any
other Turnpike employee.



NEW JERSEY TURNPIKE AUTHORITY

Thank you for this opportunity to provide this statement and I remain willing to cooperate

with the SCI in any manner you deem appropriate.

. ¢:  Robert]. Carfoll, Esquire

Very truly yours,

Diane SGaccetti A
Deputy Executive Director
Administration
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June 8, 2004

Mr. Brian Flanagan, Counsel
State of New Jersey
Commission of Investigation
P.O. Box 045

Trenton, NJ 08625-0045

Dear Mr. Flanagan,

Thank you for the opportunity to review the Commission’s draft report regarding
the EZPass project. | appreciated the extension of time to review and comment
on its contents. Your original mailing was delivered to an incorrect address.

Despite the long passage of time (almost eight (8) years) since the events
addressed in your report took place, I've tried my best to provide accurate and
factual input so that you may have a better understanding of all the matters you

examined.

If | can be of any further assistance | would be happy to do so.
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Frank J. Wilson’s Response to the Commission’s EZPass Report

1. The Commission’s report attempts to create the impression that there was an
effort to set artificial deadlines and rush the evaluation process.

| never established a scheduled deadline to complete the EZPass procurement.
| simply monitored the progress of the procurement because that schedule set
the pace for other actions that | was responsible for such as funding reallocation
and legislative approval for photographing license plates.

The overall procurement process lasted approximately 7 months. Evaluation of
the specific proposals lasted almost 4 months. This is very typical for a complex
process.

No one ever asked me to extend the schedule and therefore | did not understand
it to be a problem.

2. In many places in the Commission’s report there is an attempt to establish
that | and/or other public officials made a no cost bid a mandatory requirement of
the project. ,

| never demanded or required the project to be implemented at no cost. The
procurement was structured to allow each bidder the freedom to assign its own
cost and income forecast.

All the procurement documents, and request for proposals embody the required
terms and conditions. No requirement was specified for a zero cost bid.

Had we required the bids to be at zero cost we would never have considered
Lockheed’s bid. Since they presented a net cost of approximately $20 Million
this bid would have been rejected at the outset as being non-responsive if we
indeed required a no-cost bid from the vendors. Lockheed'’s bid was considered
responsive and valid even at the $20 Million cost level which clearly indicated
that a zero-cost bid was not expected or required.

3. Under the Consortium’s negotiated procurement process all records,
evaluations, scoring, discussion notes, and meeting minutes were to be kept
confidential during the negotiating period to protect the intellectual property and
competitive advantage of the bidders. Atthe conclusion of the process all of
these records were to become available with full public disclosure for
examination or audit by any interested party. This provision is a key component
of all negotiated procurements used by public agencies across the country and is
consistent with the procurement regulations of the NJ Turnpike Authority.



4. The Commission’s report concludes that the EZPass procurement process
offered no oversight or transparency. This conclusion is simply not supported by
the facts.

The EZPass procurement had more oversight, checks and balances and
transparency than any other contract ever awarded in the state and more than
any | had seen in over twenty-five years of experience with public agency
procurement.

These are the facts:

e Technical review and evaluation was done by approximately 30 different
and independent members of the Multi-Agency Evaluation Team (MET)
from five separate agencies including legal, financial and operations
consultants. One of these consultants was HNTB, the Turnpike’s
Engineer of Record. Additionally, five more members provided the actual
scoring that lead to the selection of MFS.

e An Executive Council consisting of the Executive Directors and Chairman
of the Board or other Board Members from each of the five participating
agencies exercised oversight and policy direction of every significant step
of the program including, technical requirements, funding methods,
schedule, basis of award and policy issues.

e NJDOT provided administrative support and coordination and facilitated
the work of the MET and Executive Council and acted as agent for the
Consortium to assisting it to arrive at a consensus selection.

e Additionally Rick Mroz lead the Governor’s Authorities Unit reporting
directly into the Governor’s office and was available to provide relief or
adjudicate any complaints, disputes or disagreements that may exist

" petween or among the toll road authorities and any State department
including NJDOT. To my knowledge no one ever registered any
complaints or concerns regarding any aspect of the procurement process
with the Governor's Authority Unit.

e While | had left NJDOT in December 1996, my successor Commissioner
John Haley had assumed his position prior to the finalization of the
selection of MFS. He had an opportunity to modify or stop the process if
any member of the Consortium so desired.

e After a selection recommendation was made, five Executive Directors had
to present their recommendation to five separate Chairmen and five
separate Boards each of which having to exercise their independent
authority to accept or reject the recommendation from the MET.



No individual or group of individuals could possibly manipulate a
procurement outcome with so many independent officials and agencies
involved at every level of review. No NJDOT officials including Frank
Wilson, Sharon Landers, Tom Margro or David Mortimer ever reviewed the
EZPass proposals, never scored the proposals, never made a
recommendation regarding award and never cast a vote at any of the

~ Board meetings which were required to convert the recommendation into
an official contract.

In fact the award of a contract to MFS was not completed until March of 1998
which was 15 months after | left state government. This permitted anyone who
had any difficulty with the recommendations to seek changes up to and including
a complete re-bid without having to be concerned with my position or reaction.
No such change in recommendation or request for re-bid was ever made.

5. The Commission’s report appears to imply that | planned to award an EZPass
contract only if one or more bidders would cover all the costs. This implication is
not accurate and ignores my ability to provide financial relief for the New Jersey
Toll Roads using public funding under my control.

My remarks in this report indicate | expected that the project would cost some
finite amount and had not expected to receive a zero cost option.

Regarding the Authorities incurring a cost for the EZPass project, each Executive
Director indicated that they had a shortage of capital funds to pay for their share
of the project without toll increases.

| made a commitment to find other sources of capital to advance the required
funding from the hundreds of millions of dollars from the Transportation Trust
Fund and/or the Federal Highway Agency. | intended to reprogram and
reallocate the required capital in a timeframe that would permit the EZPass
project to proceed on its own schedule without having to wait for the toll road
authorities to pass resolutions to raise their tolls. In effect NJDOT would act as a
funding agent (similar to a bank) and be reimbursed sometime in the future when
the Authorities were in a better financial position. Again, | stress the need to
focus on schedule issues so that | could ensure that the necessary funds were
available when needed. Also, again this testimony from Thurston and Crawford
further support the notion that | expected the project to have a finite cost — no
zero cost option was expected.

6. The Commission’s report creates the impression that | forced the Tumnpike to
hire Mr. Margro. The fact is | urged no one to hire Mr. Margro. |was advised by
Mr. McDermott , Chairman of the NJ Turnpike and Mr. Miele (a Turnpike Board



Member) that the Tumpike was searching for a Chief Engineer. They had
considered many candidates and were not satisfied that they had found a
suitable choice. | simply offered to give them the name of someone who |
through could help them. | did so. | never attended an interview. |didn't have a
vote on the matter. | was subsequently told that Mr. Margro was a wonderful find
and that the staff and the Board appreciated me providing the introduction since
Mr. Margro had exceeded their expectations of performance as their Chief
Engineer.

7. The commission report attempts to establish that a relationship existed
between MFS, Mr. Cole and myself at BART and that this relationship was
intentionally repeated in New Jersey. No such relationship existed at BART.

Mr. Cole was brought to BART at the request of two members of the BART
Board. He advised BART on how to complete a successful project which used
BART's right-of-way to enhance its communications capability and earn an
income of approximately $3 Million annually. While | was the General Manager
of BART, | was not involved in the procurement that ended in an award to MFS
Network Technologies. In fact, | never presented a recommendation to the
BART Board and | did not negotiate the contract with MFS NT for one principal
reason — | left BART in March 1994. The procurement was not complete and no
recommendation for award to MFS NT was made until August 1994 when my
successor Mr. Richard White presented the matter of the award to the BART
Board in August 1994, five (5) months after | had left the BART Organization.
The contract was negotiated and officially awarded to MFS NT in September
1994, a full six (6) months after | left BART. | had no commercial relationship
with MES-NT and had not and still have not had any working relationship with

- MFS-NT.

8. There was no intention and no attempts were made to link MFS and Mr. Cole
on the EZPass project.

My discussions with Mr. Cole dealt solely with how to approach the business of
telecommunications within the state owned roadways for a fiber-cable network
only. No regard was given to electronic toll collection. This effort did not
necessarily involve the toll roads and did not involve any specific work related to
EZPass.

| had no involvement with and did not know that Mr. Cole had been asked to
assist the Consortium in the final negotiations or the evaluation of EZPass
proposals. This would have been outside the scope of Mr. Cole’s contract with
NJDOT and | specifically asked him to not become involved in the EZPass
project. The statements you site in the report is an accurate statement regarding
my directive to Mr. Cole to not become involved with the EZPass project.



Mr. Cole was not to have any role in EZPass according to my directive.

9. The Commission’s report appears to imply that | appointed Mr. Margro to
“control’ the process and diminish the role of the Turnpike. This is not the case.
Mr. Margro was given a very limited role precisely to place control with each of
the five member agencies in the Consortium. Mr. Margro was to function as the
“honest broker” to seek consensus and coordinate the process.

Mr. Margro was not representing the Turnpike in his role of Consortium
coordinator. The Turnpike was ably represented by their technical experts on the
MET and by Mr. Gross and Board Member Miele at the policy and Executive
Council level. Mr. Margro had only an administrative role to coordinate and
facilitate the orderly flow of the process — no more. The Tumnpike staff was not
bypassed in any way. It was their technical staff and engineering consultant
among others that reviewed the proposal, scored each bidders offer and cast the
meaningful official vote of the Turnpike Authority. Mr. Margro had no vote.

Mr. Margro reported to me only on matters related to schedule, the timing of
funding requests, issues dealing with allocation of net cost or net revenue among
the three states involved in the program (Delaware, New York and New Jersey).
Furthermore, Mr. Margro was to advise me of any legislative action needed to
permit the New Jersey Toll Roads to participate legally in the program — for
instance — the legal authority to photograph auto licenses. For matters regarding
the procurement he was to support and work on behalf of the Consortium.

10. The Commission’s report asserts that Mr. Mortimer was not competent to
carry out the EZPass procurement assignment | gave him. There clearly is a
gross misunderstanding of Mr. Mortimer’s and by extension Mr. Margro’s role in
the process.

Mr. Mortimer was chosen to assume Mr. Margro’s role because of his excellent
administrative and organizational skills. Mr. Margro’s extensive engineering
talent notwithstanding, his role was as described above. He was to administer
the Consortiums work, not to make a technical contribution, not to control the
scoring results and not to make a recommendation.

Mr. Mortimer did not need a degree in engineering, accounting or toll road
operations to perform his role. However, Mr. Mortimer did have extensive
experience in administering large organizations and projects. | assigned Mr.
Mortimer the lead role in managing the merger of DMV and NJDOT when the
Governor directed this restructuring. Mr. Mortimer handled this very complex,
time critical, and mission critical reorganization of massive proportion technically,
financially and operationally. This was a very visible, demanding initiative to



improve DMV service delivery and it was expertly handled by Mr. Mortimer. This,
among many other assignments gave me the confidence to assign Mr. Mortimer
as the Administrator for the EZPass Consortium.

Others, in addition to myself also valued and respected Mr. Mortimer's
professional abilities. The State treasurer appointed Mr. Mortimer to the
NJTransit Board — a demanding and vitally important policy role. The
Commissioner of Education gave Mr. Mortimer full lead responsibility for the
largest school’s infrastructure program in the nation. Mr. Mortimer had

performed to the highest professional standards in transportation, treasury and
education. Mr. Mortimer was fully capable of being the administrator and
facilitator of the EZPass Consortium. One should not embellish his role beyond
the one | assigned to him. He did not score proposals, he did not vote, he did not
make independent recommendations.

11. The Commission’s report does not accurately explain the roles of the
participants in the Consortium. While the Tumpike’s procurement process was
used, the Turnpike was never intended to “control” the process. The other two
states (Delaware and New York) would not have accepted this arrangement. All
five agencies were considered equal partners, with equal and independent votes.
NJDOT officials were intended to serve all Consortium members equally and
administer the consensus building process.

The Consortium used the Turnpike Authority’s procurement regulation because
of its flexibility and because it best fit the desire of the Consortium members to
pursue a negotiated procurement method. The Turnpike Authority was never
intended to control the process. Officials of NJDOT functioned as agents for the
Consortium in coordinating and facilitating the achievement of a consensus
recommendation for an EZPass vendor. The Turnpike as one of the five
principal members of the Consortium having its independent staff and
consultants participate on the MET team providing their own evaluation and
scoring of proposals. Mr. Gross and a number of his Board Members serving on
the Executive council certainly had responsibility for their agency’s participation
in the process. If Mr. Gross felt he did not control the process that is another
matter. No one was supposed to control the process. Mr. Margro and Mr.
Mortimer were to serve the Consortium as agents to achieve a consensus
selection of a vendor. In short they worked for the Consortium. The testimony
you included in this report from Ms. Sharon Landers regarding this matter directly
supports this arrangement.

After evaluation and award one of the five agencies needed to serve the same
role for the Consortium during contract negotiations and ongoing project
implementation management and contract administration. The Turnpike
Authority, through Mr. Gross was considered the most appropriate to play this
role as agent for the consortium representing the interest of all member agencies



not just the Turnpike’s. NJDOT was to have no role during implementation or
ongoing operations.

Prior to the EZPass procurement a number of options were considered. Once it
was learned that one possible outcome of privatizing the toll collection function
could be massive layoffs of Authority employees | agreed not to pursue the
privatization concept. However, the most revealing aspect of Mr. Gross's
testimony regarding discussions with the Governor was the fact that any
authority’s Executive Director or any Authority Board Member that disagreed with
or had any difficulty with any of my positions or actions could and would seek to
amend or stop such actions with a simple appeal to the Governor. Since we
were all appointees of the Governor this was the appropriate manner to resolve a
difference of opinion. To my knowledge there were no other such appeals to the
Governor regarding my participation or actions on the EZPass project from any of
the Consortium members. | received no complaints regarding the evaluation and
vendor recommendation process from any member of the Consortium. [If Mr.
Gross felt he had no role in the procurement process this matter also could have
been referred to the Governor. It was not.

12. The Commission believes that my recusal letter sent to Governor Whitman
should have taken a different form. | explained at great length why | had chosen
the form which was used. The decision was a product of much discussion and
ultimately advice | received from ECES. There was never any intention to
confuse or deceive. The ECES subsequently investigated the efficacy of my
recusal notification and actions and found no violations

| proactively sought the guidance of the Executive Commission on Ethical
Standards (ECES) to obtain their recommendation on how best to put into effect
a recusal notice. We discussed who should receive the notice, and how it would
deal with identifying all the parties with whom | would have discussions.

| sought the opinion of my deputy Sharon Landers and the Executive Director of
the ECES regarding the use of the parent company to provide the greatest
degree of protection from a conflict of interest. There was general agreement
that this was the best course of action.

My actions subsequently were consistent with my recusal principle since |
announced a potential conflict of interest with both Lockheed’s team because of
Booz Allen and with MFS’s team because of Frederick R. Harris as part of
AECOM even though | had no discussions with Frederick R. Harris but with
another AECOM subsidiary — namely DMJM.



13. The Commission report does not draw a distinction between vendor
selection and the other elements of the entire EZPass program. The program
consisted of the following major components:

a) Program Definition and Development

b) Prototype Testing and Demonstration

c) Assessment of Market Feasibility

d) Procurement Pre-Qualification

e) Negotiated Procurement

f) Policy and Program Administration and Management
g) Contract Negotiations

h) Implementation

i) Operations

To avoid a conflict of interest | was required to recuse myself from the negotiated
procurement element only. There was no need or requirement to avoid any other
program element.

| never received nor did | see or read any EZPass proposal so there was no way
for me to know what firms were involved in the procurement. | only became
aware of a potential conflict when | was briefed on the project status on
September 3, 1996.

As | testified previously, | recused myself from the segment of the procurement
process dealing with the scoring, evaluation and recommendation of a preferred
bidder because of a potential conflict of interest. Any input needed from NJDOT
was to come from Deputy Commissioner Sharon Landers, if needed.

However, | remained involved with the overall administration and policy issues
related to the program. These tasks and responsibilities included reallocation of
Trust Fund and Federal funding if and when necessary, developing and getting
consensus among the three states regarding the allocation formula for
distributing cost and/or revenue among the states, and obtaining legislative
authority to implement key elements of the EZPass enforcement capability such
as the photographing of auto license plates.

This participation in no way involved the proposal evaluation, recommendation or
selection of a successful bidder.

There is no connection between who was selected and these administrative and
policy issues. The ECES concurred with this fact as a result of their investigation
of my conflict of interest situation regarding this procurement as stated in its letter
to Mr. Ed Gross dated May 1997.



14. Regarding the potential for the project funding, the testimony the
Commission received on this matter reveals that the discussions held with the
bidders indicated that it might be possible to obtain a self-financing option.
Based on those discussions, Margro, Mortimer and Carris advised me that this
may be possible, | did not direct them to make this a mandatory outcome. My
response as stated in your report was to simply make the best arrangement
possible. It was a general remark, not bidder specific and not intended to
demand a specific outcome.

Mr. Carris states clearly in your report that | never said or directed them to make
it a zero cost procurement. | simply stated that they should make the best
arrangement possible which is a statement that any rational professional would
make in this situation.

15. The Commission report stating that | sought to leave an incorrect impression
with the Commission regarding initiating contact with staff involved in the
procurement process is wrong. Your question was understood by me to mean
...would it be appropriate to routinely make inquiries about deadliness simply to
keep in tough or push for meeting deadlines. The answer | gave during my
appearance at the Commission was as accurate then as it is now. The reason |
initiated the call to Mortimer on October 8, 1996 was because of the intervention
of a Lockheed Executive, who was quite aware of my recusal because she had
received a copy of the recusal letter. After some confusion as to the purpose of
the call, | was able to determine that she was inquiring about the project
schedule. Since this inquiry was not specific to any bidder, and since the
discussion did not involve the evaluation process | called Mortimer just to verify
that there were no schedule problems. No other aspect of the process was

discussed with Mr.-Mortimer.

16. Deputy Commissioner Sharon Landers did participate in the EZPass
procurement process as a member of the Executive Council replacing me
because of my desire to avoid any conflict of interest that might arise from
discussion of the bidder scoring and evaluation process. Minutes of these
Executive Council meeting will indicate her presence and participation providing
oversight from a NJDOT perspective.

Regarding her role in the direct supervision of Mr. Mortimer in his role
administering the work of the Consortium, her assessment is correct, in that Mr.
Mortimer would be working directly with and for the Consortium. If any issues
with his work were to arise any Consortium member(s) should have been brought
to the attention of the Executive Council or Ms. Landers in her role as a Council
member or as Deputy Commissioner. If she reported no need to become
involved it was because no issues had been raised.



17. The Commission report describes my employment discussion as an
untoward event. This is unwarranted criticism since | followed state requirements
to the best of my ability, conducting these discussions under the prescribed
terms and conditions specified by ECES.

In the state of New Jersey public officials are permitted to consider other
employment as long as there is an appropriate declaration of the subject
employment discussions.

| proactively sought the guidance of ECES regarding the acceptability and
method for such discussions and under what conditions they could take place. |
followed the prescribed process and conducted these deliberations in the manner

directed by ECES.

18. The Commission report implies that the state could have avoided accepting
future cost risks during the bidder evaluation and selection process.

No shift of risk to the Consortium occurred in September or early October 1996.
Risk did not shift from MFS to the Consortium until the contract agreement was
structured to include a “true-up” or pay up provision binding all Consortium
members to pay any net cost in year seven of the project. When this provision
was put in the contract and when the contract was ratified by five public agency’s
Board of Directors on the recommendation of five agency Executive Directors the
risk was shifted to the public agencies. This happened fifteen (15) months after |
left state government.

19. The Commission report appears to imply that modifying evaluation criteria
compromised the EZPass procurement process in some way. The further
implication is that is was done to favor one bidder over another. This leads the
reader to draw an incorrect conclusion. The criteria were changed prior to bidder
submission of proposals. This did not put any bidder at a disadvantage. No
bidder registered a formal complaint when the change was made. Furthermore,
there was an important business reason for making the change.

The evaluation criteria was modified to place more importance on project cost for
two reasons. Each of the New Jersey toll road Authorities expressed serious
concern regarding their shortage of capital and inability of pay for the project
without corresponding toll increases. To be responsive to this concern, it
became important to tell the bidders cost had become a more serious
consideration to relieve the financial pressure on the New Jersey Toll Road
Authorities. Additionally, to provide further relief, | agreed to reprogram and
reallocate other state and federal funding and made a commitment to Mr.
Thurston and other Executive Directors to provide financial assistance from state

sources.



The second reason for the elevation of the importance of the cost criteria was the
fact that the Consortium had conducted a thorough pre-qualification process to
measure and evaluate the technical capability and documented experience of
each prospective bidder.

Both Lockheed and MFS had been judged to be highly qualified and able to
provide the complete technical package specified by the Consortium. Given this
determination it is appropriate to make cost a higher order consideration. This is
rather routine and typical in procurements similar in scope and size to EZPass
when a pre-qualification process is used as an initial screening technique.

20. The Commission report attempts to turn the strength and benefits of a
negotiated procurement method of selection into a weakness. More rigid
procurement methods such as very detailed specifications and low bid basis of
award have proven to be costly due to change orders, claims and litigation that
typically follows. A process that enables the parties to develop a better
understanding of requirements, approach and abilities leads to better results.
Characterizing the RFP as vague is simply wrong.

The REP was not vague, it was by definition to be flexible to permit negotiations
to proceed on an iterative basis to enable the Consortium and the bidders to
reach an optimum balance between project scope, commercial terms and
conditions, risk allocation, cost drivers and revenue generation options. Each of
these factors goes into making up a blended comprehensive bid. The negotiated
procurement process gives the Consortium greater visibility into how the bidder is
structuring its offer and therefore more freedom and choice as to elements that
are desirable and those that offer no real benefit. This is precisely why more and
more public agencies are using the negotiated process in favor of the basic “take
it or leave it’ single, low bid or high revenue offer. Results from across the
industry show that better results are achieved using this process.

21. The Consortium operated on the basis of consensus. The Consortium
members could modify the procurement schedule as they saw fit. Additionally,
any policy objective whose intent was to expand competition by extending the
schedule could have been presented to the EZPass Executive Council for
consideration and decision. | did not have nor did | exercise sole control over the
schedule. My recollection is that at least one (1) schedule extension had been
granted when requested.

22. The Commission report appears to take exception to Mr. Cole’s involvement
and contribution to NJDOT's effort to advance revenue producing projects which
extract more value from the state’s roadway system. The combination of fiber



cable networks within public right-of-ways was a newly emerging commercial
activity in the early 1990's. Very few individuals and firms had accumulated
much real experience in this field. Mr. Cole was one of the few that had a proven
track record.

At the direction of two BART Board Members | retained Mr. Cole to assist the
agency in implementing a fiber-optic network along BART's right-of-way. The
vendor negotiation and evaluation process had begun but was not concluded at
the time of my departure from BART. | left the BART organization in March,
1994. At that time no contract had been awarded to any vendor. Subsequently,
my successor, Mr. Richard White sought the BART Board'’s approval to negotiate
a contract with MFS. This occurred in August 1994. The contract was ultimately
awarded to MFS in September 1994, a full six months after my departure from
BART. Therefore, | had no involvement in awarding any work to MFS and no
business relationship with that firm.

Mr. Cole’s work for BART resulted in an income to BART of $1 Million per year
for pay telephones and $3 Million per year for fiber cable leases.

Each contract issued to Mr. Cole to assist NJDOT was done so according to the
department’s and the state’s procurement regulations. Sole source contracts of
up to $5,000 were permitted under the regulations. Two such contracts were
issued to Mr. Cole for specific limited assignments to explore the technical and
market feasibility of partnerships with telecommunication firms that would result
in improved services and income to the state.

The initial contract for $5,000 was to do a preliminary assessment of the
feasibility of placing fiber cable in the state’s roadways. This work indicated a
large potential for future benefit. The second $5,000 contract was used to permit
Mr. Cole to work with the Parkway management to reverse an arrangement with
Bell Atlantic who had charged the Parkway $10 Million to install fiber. Mr. Cole
advised that industry standard at the time actually worked in the opposite
direction. Landowners were being paid by telecom companies for the right to
install cable in their rights of way. Mr. Cole led the discussions and negotiations
between the Parkway and Bell Atlantic and successfully obtained the return of
the $10 Million to the Parkway.

This outcome demonstrated a high value return to the state from the rather small
cost of Mr. Cole’s services.

Subsequent contacts awarded to Mr. Cole for more detailed advisory services
regarding how best to procure and secure a fiber-optic system for the state’s
roadway system were done so by competitive bid.

In each case | and members of NJDOT staff participated in the evaluation and
selection process. This was done because the consultancy services were to be



provided essentially to me to help me establish a policy framework for the master
program and to assist me in determining the best commercial arrangement to
pursue so as to align New Jersey's efforts with the industry’s best practices. This
was a newly emerging market and no one at NJDOT had any viable experience
in designing or implementing this type of program. Therefore, there was no other
logical staff available to handle the procurement. However, given the broad
potential impact and likely benefit to other state departments | decided to add
Treasury officials to the selection team to include a broader perspective on future
possible uses for the fiber network.

In both instances the NJDOT and state procurement rules were followed and
participants from both NJDOT and Treasury, voted unanimously to award the
contracts to Mr. Cole. This was done ostensibly because of his experience
nationally and his successful local track record in securing at least $10 Million for
the Parkway.

Under one of these contracts Mr. Cole successfully negotiated four (4) master
contracts with Bell Atlantic, AT&T, Omni-point and Cellular One. These contracts
while only newly developed were yielding about $1 million per year and were
expected to grow to $5 Million per year.

Part of Mr. Cole’s responsibilities under these contracts was to assess the
appetite and ability of various telecommunication providers to offer a viable
statewide fiber cable network. By definition Mr. Cole was required to have
numerous discussions with potential bidders to gauge how the state could
generate maximum competition and the most favorable terms for implementing
the communication network. This is a very common, almost mandatory, part of a
sophisticated procurement. It is known as an industry review, peer review, pre-
qualification process or specification development. This activity enhances the
probability of a successful procurement.

As part of Mr. Cole’s work product he offered an observation that one of the
services that could be supported on a statewide fiber system was electronic toll
collection and suggested that we consider this option. Due to the size of the
state road way system, and ongoing discussions that | had with Treasury officials
regarding their role in the NJDOT roadway fiber system and the consortiums
separate and independent process to advance electronic tolls | decided not to
pursue Mr. Cole’s recommendations.

After more extended discussions with Treasury | decided to suspend all work at
NJDOT regarding a statewide fiber system until NODOT and Treasury developed
a more detailed plan for how a statewide fiber system would be used including
how much capacity was necessary and which functions would have priority. The
Commission report indicated that | issued this directive to Mr. Cole in June 1996
before EZPass proposals were ever received by the Consortium. Therefore, |



directed Mr. Cole to stop work on all aspects of the proposals he had been
developing including any work on electronic tolls.

It was my belief that Mr. Cole had ceased all work on the fiber network and any
alternate electronic toll collection efforts.

Subsequent to my recusal, Mr. Cole and | had no further discussions regarding
any involvement on his part in the EZPass Consortium’s evaluations of
proposals.

If someone at NJDOT asked Mr. Cole to participate in the evaluation process as
part of the services provided by Phoenix Consulting, it was done so without my
knowledge or approval and in direct conflict with my directive to Mr. Cole to not
be involved with electron toll collection work.

Despite representation made by anyone else | never authorized Mr. Cole’s work
with the consortium and did not learn of his involvement until the Lockheed
protest.

Mr. Cole’s letter to Sharon Landers and Stanley Rosenblum wherein he states in
part that he was “the Commissioner’s liaison to the Authorities for the ETC
project...” is both an unauthorized representation and inaccurate. This letter
appears to be a marketing effort by Mr. Cole to become involved in the EZPass
project. Since | was under a recual he could not have such a discussion with me.

My deputy Sharon Landers certainly knew who my liaison to the Authorities was
regarding EZPass since it was her and she was the one who took my place at
the Executive Council after my recusal. Records of the Council meetings will
confirm this. Mr. Cole’ letter may have been an effort to inject himself into the
process in a helpful way. At best it was an unnecessary marketing effort on his
part at worst it was an effort to circumvent my directive issued about this time to
remain uninvolved in the EZPass process.

Regarding the issue of Mr. Cole’s use of my name as a reference on a proposal,
it is a routine practice of all consultants to list assignment and contracts that can
verify that a firm worked for a client to establish their experience base. In the
spirit of full disclosure it was highly appropriate for Mr. Cole to reveal that he had
done work for my. former agency (BART). To do otherwise would have created
the impression that he wanted to conceal this fact or hide it in an effort to mislead
anyone regarding former business dealings. Full disclosure is generally the best
policy. That is what Mr. Cole did ensuring that everyone was aware of our
previous work together. To do otherwise would be a form of deceit. | disagreed
with the ECES’s opinion in 1997 and | still disagree that there was anything
inappropriate in telling the truth. At least any evaluator of the EZPass RFP who
may have had a problem with Mr. Cole’s involvement at BART would be aware of
it and could object, score and/or vote accordingly.



The full extent of my relationship with Mr. Cole was certainly widely known
including the earliest consideration of Mr. Cole for a consultancy contract. As
stated previously, Mr. Cole listed me as a reference to confirm his work at BART.
All engagements of Mr. Cole by NJDOT were done according to the prescribed
procurement regulations of NJDOT and the state. Mr. Cole performed admirably
for the Parkway in obtaining a $10 Million rebate and he conducted the industry
outreach under the scope of his contract. All this was done in an open public

manner.

Regarding my relationship with MFS, 1| had none. | had left the BART
organization before MFS was selected, before they were awarded a contract and
before they went to work. Therefore, there was and still is no relationship
between me and MFS.

Regarding my recusal and contact with procurement officials, as | stated
previously they were limited in number and limited to programmatic issues of
administration and policy mainly involving the relationship among the three
states. | had no discussions with any procurement official regarding proposal
scoring, evaluation or recommendation and the Commission report confirms this.
As | had testified previously and stated here, my recusal was intended to prevent
me from being a part of the selection of a preferred vendor.

It was never intended to cause me to abdicate my responsibility to ensure that
the overall program was properly funded and that whatever technical solution
was chosen or whatever bidder was chosen that the Consortium reached a
consensus on a range of policy issues.

Independent of which bidder was selected, there were other regulatory, cost
allocation and regulatory issues that needed to be managed.

The ECES addressed this matter in a letter to Mr. Ed Gross advising him that my
discussions with procurement officials did not constitute a breach of my recusal
or a conflict of interest.

Summary

The EZPass project had been underway when | arrived in New Jersey to assume
the position of Commissioner of NJDOT. | initiated the assessment of a
statewide fiber-cable network separate from the EZPass program and prior to
learning of the opportunity to develop EZPass as a multi-state consortium.
NJDOT retained Mr. Cole to assist with the evaluation of the feasibility of the
statewide fiber system in the state’s roadways. There was never any intent to
have him work on EZPass electron toll collection.



Subsequent to a meeting between Governors Whitman and Pataki, | was asked
to advance EZPass as a multi-state Consortium to ensure a wide area
compatibility of technology and toll payment systems which is now considered a
major success by motorists in the three state region. To comply with this
directive, | assumed responsibility to organize the Consortium, address and
resolve a host of policy issues, administer the involvement of five operating
companies from three states to pursue a unified procurement of the EZPass
system. | functioned as an agent of the Consortium to provide overall
administrative direction and support and in no way acted to “control” the
procurement but to facilitate a consensus outcome.

In this capacity neither myself, Mr. Margro nor Mr. Mortimer who assisted me in
the task were never intended to provide technical advice, proposal evaluation,
proposal scoring or vote for any particular bidder. Our role was to administer the
process not control the outcome. In fact, it would be impossible to control the
outcome of the selection process because of the large number of independent
personnel numbering 35 staff and consultants from five different public agencies
involved in the selection process.

Up to September 3, 1996 | was able to participate in any aspect of the project.
Subsequent to this date | voluntarily removed myself from the bidder evaluation
and recommendation process. | delegated this responsibility to my Deputy
Sharon Landers. | had assigned Mr. Mortimer to replace Mr. Margro prior to my
recusal from the procurement process and prior to learning about a potential
conflict of interest. In June 1996 | directed Mr. Cole to cease any involvement
with the EZPass project and | deferred all work on the statewide cable project
until Treasury made a determination regarding its role in participating in the
project. They considered leading it because of the numerous state departments
that might benefit from the program. They viewed NJDOT as a host for the
project but not the only user and | agreed. Therefore, | saw no need for further
work by Mr. Cole at that time. Mr. Cole’s subsequent involvement in the EZPass
evaluation proceeded without my knowledge or approval. We had no
discussions regarding EZPass bidder evaluations and he was not representing
me.

My representative was Ms. Landers who served on the Executive Council without
benefit of discussions with me since she was keenly aware of my recual due to a
potential conflict of interest.

Finally regarding oversight, transparency and decision-making, dozens of
technical professionals and policy officials (35) were directly involved in the
bidder selection. At least three Executive Directors, three Chairmen and
numerous Board Members from the New Jersey toll Authorities had easy and
ample access to the Authorities Unit in the Governor’s office, the Governor’s
Chief of Staff and the Governor herself, if they had any serious concerns about
how the process was being managed or the process results. To my knowledge



not one of these involved individuals registered any concerns, complaints or
opposition. Furthermore, each subsequently voted in separate actions in
addition to two other agencies in two other states to ratify the Consortium
recommendation. This was completed after my departure from the state. If there
had been any meaningful concern about my involvement in the procurement
process or any serious objections to any aspect of the schedule, evaluation,
scoring or process outcome any member(s) of the Consortium could have
appealed to my successor, and new Commissioner of NJDOT, Mr. John Haley.
Commissioner Haley assumed this role in the first week in January 1997 which
was prior to the NJ Turnpike’s Authority’s endorsement of the Consortium’s
recommendations. If he needed more time to evaluation any professed problem
areas I'm certain the Consortium would have granted an extension of the
schedule. No problems were raised, no appeals were made, no issue was raised
about my involvement.

In a final action each of these five Boards of Directors at the recommendation of
their respective Executive Directors approved a contract for MFS to implement
EZPass fifteen (15) months after | left the state. Surely, this provided ample time
to modify, change or overturn the recommendation made by the Consortium prior
to my departure. After September 3, 1996 | had no way to effectively influence
the outcome of the EZPass procurement and in fact do not do so.



